

Progress in Neurobiology 82 (2007) 256-286



www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio

Multidisciplinary perspectives on attention and the development of self-regulation

Andrea Berger^{*}, Ora Kofman, Uri Livneh, Avishai Henik

Department of Psychology and Zlotowski Center for Neuroscience, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, P.O. Box 653, Beer Sheva 84105, Israel

Received 25 September 2006; received in revised form 12 April 2007; accepted 14 June 2007

Abstract

During infancy and early childhood, children develop their ability to regulate their own emotions and behavior. This development of selfregulatory mechanisms has been considered to be the crucial link between genetic predisposition, early experience, and later adult functioning in society. This paper brings together the updated empirical findings related to the role of attention and the maturation of brain frontal areas in selfregulation. It reviews viewpoints and evidence of disciplines such as developmental psychology, cognitive neuroscience, social psychology, and neurobiology. It examines the *causes* of individual differences in self-regulation and the *effects* of those differences on the social and academic functioning of the individual. The consequences of failure in self-regulation are illustrated by focusing on the attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), including a detailed review of the animal models related to this disorder. Finally, some initial evidence suggesting the possibility of fostering self-regulation through training of attention is presented.

© 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Self-regulation; Attention; Development; ADHD; Animal models

Contents

1.	Introduction				
	1.2.	What i	s being self-regulated?	257	
	1.3.	How d	bes self-regulation develop? Developmental phases during infancy and early childhood	258	
2.	Attention				
	2.1.	Attenti	on networks	259	
		2.1.1.	Orienting	259	
		2.1.2.	Alertness	260	
		2.1.3.	Selective attention and executive attention	260	

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +972 8 6477757; fax: +972 8 6742072.

0301-0082/\$ - see front matter © 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.06.004

Abbreviations: 5-CSRT, five-choice serial reaction time; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine; 6-OHDA, 6-hydroxydopamine; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; ACh, acetylcholine; ADHD, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder; AMPH, amphetamine; ANT, attention network test; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; BOLD, blood oxygen level-dependent; CPT, continuous performance task; D2, dopamine-2; DA, dopaminergic; DAT, dopamine transporter; DG, deoxyglucose; DCCS, dimensional change card sorting; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; DRL, differential reinforcement of low rate; DTI, diffusion tensor imaging; EEG, electroencephalogram; EF, executive function; ERP, event-related potential; ERT, empathy response task; FCN, fixed consecutive number; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; g, general intelligence; GABA, gamma aminobutyric acid; GLAST, glutamate aspartate transporter; GLT, glutamate transporter; IL, infra limbic; IQ, intelligence quotient; ITI, inter-trial interval; KO, knock out; LPFC, lateral prefrontal cortex; PATHS, promoting alternative thinking strategies; PFC, prefrontal cortex; RT, reaction time; SFG, superior frontal gyrus; SHR, spontaneously hypertensive rat; SMA, supplementary motor area; SOA, stimulus onset asynchrony; SSRI, specific serotonin reuptake inhibitors; VLPFC, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex; VPC, visual paired comparison; VTA, ventral tegmental area; WKY, Wister–Kyoto strain

E-mail address: andrea@bgu.ac.il (A. Berger).

	2.2.	The frontal system and self-regulation	
		2.2.1. Cognitive control of emotion	261
		2.2.2. Development	261
	2.3.	Maturation of the frontal lobe and its role in attention and self-regulation.	262
		2.3.1. Synaptogenesis.	263
		2.3.2. Myelination	264
		2.3.3. Connectivity	264
		2.3.4. Role of neurotransmitters in cortical development	264
3.	The a	auses of individual differences in self-regulation	265
	3.1.	Temperament	265
		3.1.1. Stability of individual differences in effortful control	265
		3.1.2. Temperamental differences in self-regulation and left-right frontal EEG asymmetries	266
	3.2.	Environmental influences.	266
		3.2.1. Influences of attachment	266
		3.2.2. Parenting strategies and styles	267
4.	The e	ffects of individual differences in self-regulation	267
	4.1.	Self-regulation and the child's social functioning	267
	4.2.	Self-regulation and compliance	268
	4.3.	Developmental pathologies in self-regulation—the case of ADHD	
		4.3.1. Alternative models for explaining ADHD	269
		4.3.2. Motivational theories of ADHD	270
		4.3.3. The energetic model of ADHD	271
		4.3.4. The ADHD inattentive subtype	271
		4.3.5. Evidence of brain abnormalities of frontal areas in ADHD	271
		4.3.6. Contribution of animal models to the understanding of self-control and impulsive behavior	272
		4.3.7. Temporal discounting	273
		4.3.8. The five-choice serial reaction time (5-CSRT)	273
		4.3.9. Rodent models of ADHD	274
		4.3.10. Genetic models of ADHD in mice	276
5.	Final	words	277
	Ackn	owledgement	277
	Refer	ences	277

1. Introduction

1.1. What is self-regulation?

The concept of self-regulation has received many different definitions within the literature, depending on the different theoretical perspectives under which it has been studied. It can be used to refer to the ability to comply with a request, to initiate and/or cease behavior according to situational demands, to modulate the intensity, frequency, and duration of verbal and motor acts in social and educational settings, to postpone acting upon a desired object or goal, to generate socially approved behavior in the absence of external monitoring, to modulate emotional reactivity, etc. (e.g., Fonagy and Target, 2002; Kopp, 1992; Thompson, 1994; Vaughn et al., 1984, and others). The broader definition would be that self-regulation refers to the ability to monitor and modulate cognition, emotion and behavior, to accomplish one's goal and/or to adapt to the cognitive and social demands of specific situations. When referring to emotional regulation, one usually refers to intensity and temporal characteristics of the emotional response (Thompson, 1994), and one of the working definitions that has been recently proposed is that it refers to "the process of initiating, avoiding, inhibiting, maintaining, or modulating the occurrence, form, intensity, or duration of internal feeling

states, emotion-related physiological, attentional processes, motivational states and/or the behavioral concomitants of emotion in the service of accomplishing affect-related biological or social adaptation or achieving individual goals" (Eisenberg and Spinrad, 2004).

1.2. What is being self-regulated?

Most probably, the definition above does not refer to a single process, but to a group of monitoring mechanisms underlying the ability to self-regulate. First, self-regulation of emotion can be distinguished from self-regulation of cognition, which might or might not include regulation of overt behavior. These processes have been studied separately, and seem to be challenged in somewhat different situations. However, as will be described in detail in Section 2, some interesting links can be found between these broad categories of regulation. These links seem to indicate that there is one common underlying factor behind all forms of self-regulation. This factor seems to be the executive aspect of attention (Fonagy and Target, 2002; Kopp, 1982; Posner and Rothbart, 1998; Ruff and Rothbart, 1996). According to this view, attention is the key aspect of the larger construct of selfregulation, and is the basis of inhibitory control, strategies of problem solving, and self-monitoring.

1.3. How does self-regulation develop? Developmental phases during infancy and early childhood

The milestones in the process of developing self-regulation from early infancy have been described by Kopp (1982, 1989). Some initial form of self-regulation can already be observed in the first months of life. At this stage, neuro-physiological modulatory mechanisms protect an infant from too much arousal or stimulation. Infants are able to reduce the level of stimulation to some extent, by turning away from the source of stimulation (i.e., closing their eyes) and/or engaging self-soothing activities such as sucking. According to Kopp, the next stage begins when an infant begins to show clearly defined cycles of wakefulness that are relatively congruent with social definitions of day and night. Gradually, during a period that continues until the age of 9-12 months, infants become capable of responding to external control. They become aware and capable of intentional meansend actions (e.g., reaching for a pacifier and putting it into the mouth) and they begin to comply with external signals and commands (e.g., complying with a parental requirement such as "don't touch this"). The type of self-regulation in this phase is called sensory-motor modulation, as infants' increasing mobility and improving motor control become progressively more selfdirected. They use their sensory-motor repertoire to modulate their interaction with the environment. As mentioned, one of the important mechanisms that helps infants to modulate the level of arousal is the orienting of attention. Indeed, Johnson et al. (1991) found that the probability of disengaging attention from a central attractor to process a peripheral target increased very dramatically within the first 4 months of life. Moreover, Harman et al. (1997) showed the interaction between attention and soothing in 3- to 6-month-old infants. They found that infants, who were first distressed by visuo-auditory stimulation, could orient to an alternative interesting stimulus that was presented to them. While the infants re-oriented to this new stimulus, their facial and vocal signs of distress disappeared. Their finding is consistent with caregivers' reports of how attention is used to regulate the state of an infant: while before the age of 3 months, caregivers mainly hold and rock an infant in order to sooth him, at about the age of 3 months they report trying to distract an infant by orienting their attention toward alternative stimuli. Toward the end of the first year of life, infants begin to show the first simple forms of compliance with external control. They begin to respond to warning signals and perform one-step simple commands (Kopp, 1982). During toddlerhood children develop a sense of autonomy and awareness of self. Their emotional repertoire becomes more sophisticated and begins to include secondary emotions related to self-consciousness and self-awareness, such as shame and pride (Lewis, 1992; Sroufe, 1995). This emotional development parallels achievements in cognitive abilities as have been described by Piaget (1926, 1952) and a growing sense of self (Lewis, 1997, 1998). The relevant cognitive achievements include the ability to plan and perform a means-end sequence of action, the ability to hold in mind a mental representation, the development of language, etc. These, together with the growing sense of self, enable children at this age to begin carrying out their own intentions and to comply with external requests to control

physical actions, communications and emotional expressions (Bronson, 2000). The type of monitoring at this stage has been called by Kopp "self-control", instead of "self-regulation", meaning that the child still has limited flexibility in adapting acts to meet new situational demands and a limited capacity for delay and waiting. As pointed out by Kopp (1992), children at this stage are not yet fully skilled in managing their emotions. They tend to react with physical aggression and have emotional outbursts such as crying or temper tantrums, if frustrated. They still depend heavily on their caregivers to help them maintain control in the face of stress, fatigue, or challenge. Adults must set and maintain the standards for behavior, anticipate difficult or frustrating situations, and assist a child who is losing control (Sroufe, 1995). Vaughn et al. (1984) studied two main aspects of self-control in children between the ages 18 and 30 months-delay/response inhibition in the presence of an attractive toy and compliance with maternal directives in a cleanup task. In addition to age differences and an increase in coherence of compliance measures with age, significant positive correlations were found between self-control and the cognitive-developmental status of the toddlers. Recent studies provide supporting evidence that some preliminary signs of self-control can be found already at the age of 2-2.5 years (Carlson, 2005; Diamond et al., 2005; Hughes and Ensor, 2005). However, as proposed by Kopp (1982, 1989), it seems that it is not until preschool ages that children actually enter a stage of real self-regulation, becoming increasingly able to use rules, strategies and plans to guide their behavior. Toddlers begin to succeed in challenges such as not peeking during the gift delay-bow task (Carlson, 2005). In this situation, the experimenter tells the child that he is going to receive a present and is shown a large gift bag with a wrapped gift inside. Then the experimenter says he forgot to put a bow on the gift and asks the child to wait until he returns with a bow before opening the present. The experimenter leaves the room for 3 min and returns with a bow, and invites the child to open the gift (if the child has not done so already). Peeking is scored as a fail. About 70% of 24-month-old children can cope with this challenge and pass this test successfully (Carlson, 2005). If the situation is made more challenging, such as in the gift delay-wrap task (Carlson, 2005; Kochanska et al., 1996), it is not until the age of 5 years old that children begin to succeed and reach the 70% probability level of passing the test. Here, the child is told he is going to receive a prize. However, the experimenter "forgot" to wrap their present. The experimenter asks the child to turn around in his seat until the present is wrapped so it will be a big surprise. The experimenter then wraps a gift noisily (rifling through a paper bag, cutting wrapping paper with scissors, folding the paper around the box, and tearing off tape) for 60 s. As in the easier version, peeking behavior is recorded.

As will be explained in more detail in Section 2.2, between the ages of 3 and 5 years there is a gradual progression in the ability of children to deal with conflict. A variety of tasks have been designed to measure and study these changes, for example, the dimensional change card sorting (DCCS) task (Carlson, 2005; Diamond, 2002, 2006; Frye et al., 1995; Zelazo et al., 2003). In this task, after sorting cards according to a certain dimension (e.g., color), the child is required to begin sorting by a different dimension (e.g., shape). Three-year-olds seem to still have 'attentional inertia'. Having focused their attention on a particular dimension, their attention gets stuck there, and they have extreme difficulty redirecting it. In other words, children's difficulty lies in disengaging from a mindset (a way of thinking about the stimuli) that is no longer relevant. Older children seem to acquire the ability to inhibit this tendency and succeed in switching from one sorting dimension to another (Kirkham et al., 2003).

Between the ages of 3 and 5 years old children begin to succeed in a variety of tasks designed to tap frontal functions, including working memory, inhibition, planning, and set switching. Most importantly, these changes occur in parallel to the changes in self- and social-understanding (Carlson and Moses, 2001). As pointed out by Bronson (2000), at preschool age children begin to use speech as a technique for controlling actions and thoughts (Berk and Winsler, 1995; Luria, 1961; Vygotsky, 1962). One of the best documented transitions is in the improved ability to withhold a response or to make an incompatible response, as demonstrated in experimental tasks designed by Luria (Beiswenger, 1968; Diamond and Taylor, 1996; Luria, 1966; Miller et al., 1970). Generally, there appears to be a dramatic increase between 3 and 5 years of age in children's ability to switch between two incompatible rules (Kirkham et al., 2003; Zelazo and Jacques, 1996), and to deal with conflict where children must override a prepotent response and substitute a conflicting response (Gerardi-Caulton, 2000; Reed et al., 1984).

Still, the developmental process of self-regulation is by no means finished at preschool years. Self-regulating abilities continue to develop throughout childhood and adolescence (Barkley, 1997; Bronson, 2000; Davidson et al., 2006; Welsh, 2001).

The whole process of developing self-regulation that has been described above can be conceptualized as a gradual transition from external control to internal or self-control (Bronson, 2000; Schore, 1994; Sroufe, 1995). This development of self-regulatory mechanisms has been considered to be the crucial link between genetic predisposition, early experience, and later adult functioning in society (Eisenberg et al., 1995, 2001; Fonagy and Target, 2002).

According to the model proposed by Posner and Rothbart, the time-schedule of this ontogenic process seems to be dictated by the unfolding of higher order cognitive capacities such as executive aspects of attention (Posner and Rothbart, 1998, 2000) and language acquisition. In the next section, we will clarify the meaning of executive attention and its relation to self-regulation. It should be mentioned at this point that although in this review we focus on the importance of executive attention for the development of self-regulation, there are alternative theoretical approaches in the literature that emphasize the importance of executive functions (EFs, e.g., the ability to formulate and hold in mind problem-solving strategies), which are mostly dependent on increasing working memory capacities (Davidson et al., 2006; Espy and Bull, 2005) and on increasing the hierarchical complexity of the rules that children can formulate and use when solving problems (Zelazo et al., in press; Zelazo et al., 2003, etc.). For example, recent findings reported by Espy and Bull (2005) suggest that children' performance in tasks requiring attention control might be related to differences in working memory.

Not all children develop the same degree of self-regulation and there are many individual differences in the development of these capacities. Several factors affect these individual differences. On one hand, temperamental differences between babies are relevant. Section 3.1 is dedicated to temperament and its relevance to self-regulation. On the other hand, the environment has a great impact on the development of selfregulation. Children do not develop this capacity in isolation. Regarding regulation of emotions, for example, Sroufe (1983, 1995) has suggested that the roots of self-regulation are the dvadic regulation within the relationship with the attachment figure. Moreover, the social and physical environment provides the goals and constraints for the adaptive modulation of behavior and emotion (Bronson, 2000; Denham, 1998; Sroufe, 1995; Thompson, 1994). Section 3.2 is dedicated to the environmental influences affecting the development of self-regulation.

In addition, this paper deals with the effects of selfregulation, from differences in children's social functioning (Section 4.1) to the consequences of anomalous self-regulation, one example of which is seen in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Section 4.3 focuses on this syndrome, and includes a review of the evidence based on animal models. To conclude, in our final section, we refer to the link between selfregulation and motivation and we review preliminary evidences for the possibility of training and enhancement of selfregulation.

2. Attention

In everyday life there are constantly competing demands on our cognitive and emotional systems by the outside world as well as from internally generated goals. The need for mechanisms to arbitrate between these competing demands is straightforward so that they can be integrated, prioritized, or selected among to provide coherent and adaptive behavior. Many agree that the attention system of the brain is centrally involved in providing such adaptive behavior. Research suggests that attention involves different mechanisms subserved by separate brain areas. In particular, attention encompasses three sub-systems; orienting, alertness, and selection-executive function.

2.1. Attention networks

2.1.1. Orienting

Orienting of visual attention to a point of interest is commonly accompanied by overt movements of the head, eyes, or body. Attending may originate at will, as when we decide to look at a particular location where something of interest is expected, or it may originate reflexively without intention when something captures our attention, as when we orient to a flash of light in the dark or to a movement in the periphery of our vision.

Michael Posner developed a paradigm widely employed to study visual spatial attention (Posner, 1980). Orienting to a

specific location in space facilitates responding to targets appearing at that location. Research has suggested that brain injuries, especially in posterior areas of the brain, damage the orienting system. In particular, damage to the temporal-parietal junction and the parietal lobe produce a syndrome called neglect or extinction (Friedrich et al., 1998; Karnath et al., 2001). Neglect is characterized by difficulty in responding to stimuli presented in the contralesional field and extinction is the inability to disengage from stimuli presented in the intact field. Damage to the midbrain superior colliculus (Sapir et al., 1999) and to the frontal eye fields (Henik et al., 1994) also incurs deficiency in performance of the orienting system. Neuroimaging studies are in line with patient studies and suggest that the superior parietal lobe is involved in voluntary shifts of attention (Corbetta et al., 2000). Pharmacological studies (e.g., Davidson and Marrocco, 2000; see also Posner and Fan, in press) relate the orienting system to the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh).

As will be explained in more detail in following sections, the ability to orient attention is important for self-regulation early in infancy.

2.1.2. Alertness

Many situations require high sensitivity to stimuli, for example, a situation characterized by weak or infrequent stimuli. What is involved in achieving such sensitivity? One way to study this system is by manipulating parameters of warning signals that precede targets (Posner and Boies, 1971) and measuring the transient alerting effects of these signals. It has been suggested (Posner and Petersen, 1990) that this system involves right frontal and right parietal structures and that modulation of alertness is achieved by the neurotransmitter norepinephrine (NE) (Marrocco and Davidson, 1998). This same system seems to be involved in maintaining the state of alertness over time, a function often referred to as sustained attention. To study this ability, a long and boring task is presented and fluctuations in performance over time are measured. An example of a task of this sort is the continuous performance task (CPT).

2.1.3. Selective attention and executive attention

In order to study selective attention psychologists create a conflict situation in which the subject has to respond to one stimulus or to one aspect of the stimulus and ignore another stimulus or another aspect of the stimulus. In these situations the subject needs to focus on the target (a stimulus or an aspect of a stimulus) and ignore all the rest of the display. The two most widely used paradigms for studying this type of selection are *Stroop color naming* (MacLeod, 1991; Stroop, 1935) and *the flanker paradigm* (Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974). For example, in the Stroop task color-words are presented in color and subjects are asked to name the color of the ink and ignore the meaning of the word. The ink color and word meaning can be congruent (e.g., red in red), neutral (e.g., xxx in red) or incongruent (e.g., blue in red).

Another way to look at interactions within and between attributes is to present the relevant and irrelevant attributes in separate locations (Cohen and Shoup, 1997; Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974; Miller, 1991), for example, have subjects focus on a color patch at the center of a screen and ignore a flanking word. In order to look not only at the effect of the word on the color, but also at the effect of color on color (interaction within an attribute), one can present the word in color (Henik et al., 1999). Again, the attributes of the target and the flanker can be congruent, neutral or incongruent. Failures in attention are commonly revealed in two ways: (1) reduction in efficiency of responding to the target when the irrelevant features of the display are present and (2) indications for processing of the irrelevant material (i.e., word meaning) especially when it clearly interferes with processing of the target.

Throughout the years many variations of these tasks were created. Patient studies and neuroimaging studies suggested that two frontal areas are involved in such conflict situations; the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and the lateral prefrontal cortex (LPFC, including the dorsolateral PFC, BA 9 and 46-DLPFC, and the ventrolateral PFC, BA 44, 45, 47-VLPFC). Note that Rushworth et al. (2004) have suggested that a medial superior frontal gyrus (SFG) region centered on the pre-supplementary motor area (pre-SMA) is involved in the function of selection (for example, selecting a specific dimension of a stimulus) and that activations that originated in this region might have been erroneously attributed to the ACC. The ACC and other medial PFC areas project to the ventromedial striatum, including the nucleus accumbens (Alexander et al., 1990; Haber, 2003) and the DLPFC projects mainly to the rostral head of the caudate (Haber, 2003), but projections also extend in a rostro-caudal direction to the tail (Alexander et al., 1990). Both striatal regions receive input from midbrain dopaminergic (DA) neurons. The ventromedial striatum receives input primarily from the ventral tegmental area (VTA), whereas the dorsal striatum is innervated by widespread input from the ventral and lateral DA cells, including the pars compacta of the substantia nigra (Haber, 2003).

It was suggested that the medial structure (ACC) is responsible for conflict monitoring whereas the lateral structure (LPFC) maintains task requirements and is responsible for inhibition of irrelevant responses (Bunge, 2004; Bunge et al., 2002b; Bunge et al., 2001; McDonald et al., 2000). Activity at the head of caudate, as indicated by the Magnetic resonance blood oxygen level-dependent (MR BOLD) signal, has also been shown to correlate with successful inhibition in go/no-go tasks (Durston et al., 2002). As will be explained in more detail in following sections, this is the type of attention that seems to be the most relevant for further advances in self-regulation during childhood.

2.2. The frontal system and self-regulation

The ability to focus on a task and to ignore irrelevant information is important for continuous performance of demanding tasks, decision making and inhibiting automatic response tendencies. As mentioned earlier, it has been suggested that the ACC is responsible for error detection and conflict monitoring. The LPFC may be involved in maintenance of context or task instructions. The latter may be related to the involvement of this structure in working memory.

Whatever roles are ascribed to these structures, it seems that the orchestrated work of the ACC and the LPFC is central for efficient performance under these situations. Brain imaging studies have linked these areas to a variety of specific functions in attention (Posner and Fan, in press), such as monitoring for conflict (Botvinick et al., 2001) and error (Holroyd and Coles, 2002). A combined functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and event-related potential (ERP) study found that the ACC was critical in monitoring infrequent signals and in generating the ERP waves associated with oddity (N2b) and attention (P3). Moreover, the ACC was shown to send feedback to the modality-specific sensory cortex, which detected the infrequent signals. In simple tasks such as the oddball task, the DLPFC and other lateral prefrontal areas were not activated with the ACC, suggesting that the LPFC regions may only be involved in higher levels of conflict, such as those involved in the Stroop task (Crottaz-Herbette and Menon, 2006).

In addition, the ACC and LPFC have been linked to working memory (Duncan et al., 2000), emotion (Bush et al., 2000), and pain (Rainville et al., 1997). Moreover, research suggests that these frontal structures are recruited under diverse tasks that seem to be related to general intelligence. Duncan and his colleagues (Duncan et al., 2000) studied the neural basis of general intelligence (g) and showed that tasks characterized as high g tasks recruited the lateral prefrontal cortex (LPFC) and the ACC. The LPFC was activated regardless of whether the task was verbal or spatial in nature. Despite the evidence for involvement of the ACC in cognitive control from neuroimaging studies, the evidence from lesion studies is equivocal. Although Swick and Jovanovic (2002) reported deficits in performance of the Stroop task in two patients with unilateral ACC damage, Fellows and Farah (2005) found intact response modulation to different conditions and instructions on the Stroop and go/no-go tasks in four patients, including one with an extensive bilateral medial prefrontal lesion. It is, therefore, critical to further explore the role of the ACC in cognitive control in patients with lesions, with attention to the side of the lesion.

2.2.1. Cognitive control of emotion

A recent review paper (Ochsner and Gross, 2005) suggested that the ability to control emotion involves frontal structures. Studies have examined control of emotion through selective attention or attention distraction, and by cognitively changing the meaning of the emotional stimuli. Selective attention can be manipulated by changing the task. For example, it is possible to ask participants to evaluate the emotional features of the stimuli or to attend to their perceptual characteristics (Hariri et al., 2000). Another way to change the amount of attention devoted to the emotional stimuli is by presenting distracting stimuli or by employing a high load secondary task (Pessoa et al., 2002).

Ochsner and Gross (2005) suggested that both forms of emotion regulation depend upon interactions between prefrontal and cingulate structures, and cortical and subcortical emotion-generative systems. This view is consistent with the relation between the control of cognition and emotion suggested by Posner and Rothbart (1998, 2000). Evidence for the interactions between neocortical, cingulate and subcortical regions in the regulation of emotion was recently demonstrated by Etkin et al. (2006) using a Stroop-like emotional task. Words depicting an emotion (happy or angry) written in color were printed across a picture of a face that displayed either the same (congruent) emotion as the word, or the opposite emotion (incongruent). Color naming in incongruent trials was slower than in congruent trials; however, if an incongruent trial followed another incongruent trial, the reaction times were faster and accuracy better than if the incongruent trial followed a congruent trial. This suggested that resolving the conflict in one incongruent trial enabled the participant to more easily resolve the conflict in a subsequent trial (termed high conflict resolution). In contrast, if an incongruent trial followed a congruent trial, the condition was deemed to have low conflict resolution. The level of conflict (low conflict resolution > high conflict resolution) was reflected by changes in the BOLD signal in the DLPFC bilaterally and midline dorsomedial PFC. The level of resolution (high > low) was reflected in activation of the rostral ACC. These data suggest that the rostral ACC is involved in resolution, but not in monitoring of conflict, whereas the DLPFC is involved in monitoring, but not in resolution of conflict. This argues against a strict functional division of the cingulate/dorsomedial prefrontal cortex into a ventral affective and a dorsal cognitive component (Bush et al., 2000).

Moreover, ACC activity was associated with dampening of amygdala activity in trials with high conflict resolution and better improvement in reaction times between low and high conflict resolution trials. Moreover, the improvement in behavioral performance was associated with dampening of the sympathetic skin conductance response. Thus, the rostral ACC was shown to be critical for reducing amygdala activity and consequently both autonomic and behavioral manifestations of conflict (Etkin et al., 2006).

2.2.2. Development

While the orienting and alerting systems seem to be active very early in life, the more anterior network develops gradually throughout childhood and begins to control attention. The first primitive form of executive control seems to mature by the end of the first year. Studies of reaching behavior in human infants and monkeys suggest that development of such behavior involves both the ability to plan and execute sequences of action and the ability to inhibit certain reflexive actions or dominant response tendencies. Reaching behavior of infants has been studied by Adele Diamond and her colleagues using several paradigms. A detailed understanding of the gradual development occurring during the second half of the first year of life was obtained in Diamond's studies (Diamond, 1991; Diamond et al., 1994) of "detour reaching" in the Object Retrieval task. In this task, a toy is positioned inside a small transparent box placed in front of the child. The box has an opening only on one side. Since the top of the box is transparent, the initial tendency of the child is to reach straight down toward the toy, following his line of sight. Infants aged 6.5-7 months show a strong tendency to reach only to the side of the box through which they see the toy. That means that if the opening is at the front side, and they can see the toy through it, they would be able to reach for the toy through this opening instead of the useless reaching toward the top of the box. Diamond describes a gradual progression in the emerging ability to inhibit the tendency to reach straight ahead with the line of sight, until the age of 12 months. At this age, the child is able to retrieve the toy even when the opening is on the side, and he does not need to adjust his line of sight to match this reaching trajectory (see details in Diamond, 1991; Diamond et al., 1994).

In addition, Diamond used the classic A-not-B task, suggested by Piaget, to further examine the early development of control (Diamond et al., 1994). In this task, children are trained to reach for a hidden object at location A. After this response is well-trained, they are then tested on their ability to search for the hidden object at a new location B. Children younger than 12 months of age tend to look in the previous location A, even though they see the object disappear behind location B. After the first year, children develop the ability to inhibit the prepotent response toward the trained location A, and successfully reach for the new location B (for review of this line of evidence see Marcovitch and Zelazo, 1999). Success in the A-not-B task seems to reflect two abilities: first, the ability to inhibit a previously reinforced response, that is, the tendency to reach toward location A where the object had been located in prior trials; second, the ability to hold the location in working memory during the delay after which the infant is allowed to reach for the object. While at 8 months of age, infants make the A-not-B error even when a 2–3 s delay is used, at 12 months, infants can withstand delays of 10 s and still succeed in the task (Diamond et al., 1994). Evidence from lesion studies and single-cell recordings in monkeys suggests that this increase in control is achieved mainly through the maturation of the DLPFC (Diamond, 1991).

However, those are only the first primitive signs of the ability to inhibit, to deal with cognitive conflict, to hold information in working memory, etc. The consolidation of executive attention functions is considered to begin only after the second year of life (Clohessy et al., 2001; Posner and Rothbart, 2000; Ruff and Rothbart, 1996). After this age, children begin to be able to solve simple cognitive conflicts. A combination of the Stroop and Simon tasks has been designed to be appropriate for conflict testing in young children. The task involves presenting a simple visual object on one side of a screen in front of the child and requiring the child to respond by pressing a button that matches the target identity (Berger and Posner, 2000; Gerardi, 1997). The appropriate button can be either on the side of the target stimulus (congruent trial) or on the side opposite the target stimulus (incongruent trial). The prepotent response is to press the button on the side of the target stimulus, irrespective of its identity. However, the task requires the child to inhibit that prepotent response and to base their actions on identity instead. The ability to resolve this conflict is measured by the accuracy and speed of their key press responses. Data strongly suggests that executive attention undergoes dramatic change during the third year of life. Performance by toddlers at the very beginning of this period is dominated by a tendency to repeat the previous response (Gerardi, 1997). Perseveration is associated with frontal dysfunction and this finding is consistent with the idea that executive attention is still very immature in a child at 24 months of age.

An even more difficult type of conflict is introduced by a task requiring executing instructions from one source while inhibiting those from another (Posner and Rothbart, 1998). This conflict task is the basis of the Simon Says game. Several studies employed a simplified puppet version of this game and indicate that the ability to perform this task emerged at the age of 4 years (Carlson, 1997; Jones et al., 2003; Reed et al., 1984). The impressive developmental change in attentional control at this age is supported by additional studies with tasks involving conflict (Gerstadt et al., 1994; Jerger et al., 1988; Zelazo et al., 1995), which showed that in this type of task, there is little evidence of successful performance before 3 years of age (Posner and Rothbart, 2000) (although, as mentioned above, there are some EF tasks which 2-2.5-year olds can pass (Carlson, 2005; Hughes and Ensor, 2005). These age-related changes in EF (see Section 1.3) seem to be consistent across a range of testing procedures. As described by Diamond et al. (2005), "At the same age that children fail to switch sorting dimensions on a standard DCCS task (3 years), they also fail an array of other tasks that similarly require holding two things in mind and inhibiting a prepotent response (Diamond, 2002). At the same age that children first succeed on the DCCS task (4-5 years), they likewise first succeed on those other tasks as well".

The development through childhood in the ability to deal with conflict was studied using the computerized attention network test (ANT) (Rueda et al., 2004). Dramatic improvements were found in the conflict (flanker) effect from the age of 4 to 7 years. Interestingly, after 7 years of age no further improvements were found (Posner and Rothbart, 2007). In contrast, in a recent study by Davidson et al. (2006) that employed variations of the Simon task, inhibition and working memory were found to continue developing gradually after early adolescence until reaching their mature levels only at adulthood.

Error detection seems to develop before the development of error correction. In the context of the Simon Says game, children of 36–38 months of age showed no slowing of their responses following an error, but did so at 39–41 months (Jones et al., 2003). Despite these behavioral findings, there is recent evidence for changes in ERP activity that reflect error detection in infants as young as 6–9 months. Hence, error detection seems to develop before the development of the ability to exert motor control for error correction (Berger et al., 2006). As mentioned above, monitoring of errors is one important function that has been traced to the anterior cingulate (Bush et al., 2000; Luu et al., 2000).

2.3. Maturation of the frontal lobe and its role in attention and self-regulation

The size of newly evolved areas of the brain has been found to be correlated with the length of time required to reach maturity. In keeping with this finding, the relative size of the human frontal lobe is larger than in other species, and its prolonged development between infancy to adulthood allows it to be molded by experience (Johnson, 2003). It has been known for some time that although certain cortical areas are predestined to subserve particular functions, experience is critical in the postnatal stages of development. The sequence of development of the cortex is based largely on research in nonhuman primates, and to some degree on post-mortem studies in humans (Luciana, 2003). In humans, the processes of cell proliferation, differentiation into neurons and glial cells, migration of neurons to their cortical destination and differentiation occur between the 10th to 18th weeks of gestation. Thereafter, the two major developmental events are related to connectivity: (a) synaptogenesis, which involves two stages-proliferation and pruning of the dendritic and axonal processes and (b) myelination. The full-term infant has a laminated cortex whose volume is about a third that of an adult cortex (Huttenlocher, 1994). The initial stages of proliferation, migration and differentiation are complete at term; however, the maturational stages of synaptogenesis and myelination begin toward the end of the second and beginning of the third trimester of pregnancy and continue throughout infancy to adolescence. Sowell, Toga and their colleagues mapped developmental changes in thickness of different cortical regions during childhood and described two developmental patterns: (1) increasing thickness of the gray matter, which might be associated with either proliferation of dendrites or enlargement of somata and (2) increased myelination, which in structural neuroimaging appears to be progressive 'thinning' of cortical gray matter. This "thinning" in childhood should not be confused with cortical degeneration seen in late adulthood (Sowell et al., 2004; Toga et al., 2006). These processes will be the focus of the next sections.

2.3.1. Synaptogenesis

In rodents and non-human primates the dendritic tree and axonal collaterals are initially over-developed, reaching about 150% of adult levels. Thereafter, redundant connections are reduced in a process called pruning. Huttenlocher and Dabholkar (1997) found that the prefrontal cortex (middle frontal gyrus) had a later time course of synaptogenesis and pruning than did the primary auditory cortex in humans. The peak synaptic density in the primary auditory cortex was at 3 months of age, whereas in the middle frontal gyrus, synaptic density peaked at 3.5 years.

The evidence that the processes shaping growth of dendrites and axons can be influenced by environmental factors stems from two sources: environmental enrichment and sensory deprivation studies in laboratory animals. Cortical thickness and dendritic branching were enhanced when rats were raised in an enriched environment (compared to the standard impoverished laboratory conditions), providing the first evidence that sensorimotor stimulation affects cortical architecture (Diamond et al., 1964, 1966). Increased basal dendritic branching was found in pyramidal neurons of layers 4 and 5 of the temporal cortex, but not the frontal cortex, in animals reared in a complex environment (Greengough et al., 1973). Furthermore, Hebb (1947) showed that rats raised in an enriched environment were better at learning mazes compared to rats raised in a standard laboratory, suggesting that sensorimotor stimulation can have long-lasting effects on learning. The beneficial effects of environmental enrichment have been confirmed in many studies (Kolb et al., 2003; van Praag et al., 2000). The overproduction of synapses is regulated at critical periods by pruning of redundant connections. The classic study of Hubel and Wiesel (1965) demonstrated that unilateral occlusion of an eye during a critical period resulted in wider ocular dominance columns for the unobstructed eye in the primary visual cortex. Redundancy of geniculo-striate projections representing both eyes is normally eliminated by competition between strong and weak connections; however, unilateral sensory deprivation diminishes the activity from the stronger connections such that the weaker connections prevail. even after sight is restored to the eye. Brief amounts of binocular exposure can offset the effects of longer periods of monocular deprivation (Schwarzkopf et al., 2007). In the retino-geniculate pathway, synaptic input is sculpted in early stages by spontaneous ganglion cell activity that can occur even before visual input. However, in later stages of development, visual experience is critical (Hooks and Chen, 2006; Katz and Shatz, 1996). Thus, development of the visual system depends on spontaneous activity at an early stage, even before sensory input is possible, but is influenced by sensory stimulation at a later age. Evidence for this was also found in studies of infants born with cataracts, who were functionally blind in one eye. Infants with patterned visual deprivation up to 9 months of age, showed improved visual acuity as early as one hour following removal of the cataracts and being fitted with contact lenses. Acuity improved up to 1 month in monocularly deprived eyes, whether or not the contralateral eye had been patched. However, the authors reported that at later ages, competition from the non-deprived eye resulted in poorer acuity in the eye that was recovering (Maurer et al., 1999). Kolb and Whishaw (2001) suggested that the over-abundance of synaptic connections in childhood allows for plasticity and potential recovery from brain damage if it occurs before pruning in that particular region has taken place. This research suggests that disruption of normal sensorimotor stimulation can have critical behavioral consequences, even after the state of deprivation is rectified.

Since the prefrontal cortex is a critical region for regulation of attention and emotion, the time course of synaptogenesis and pruning of this region can shed light on self-regulatory functions. Huttenlocher and Dabholkar (1997) found that in children, pruning of synapses in the primary auditory cortex is complete by 12 years of age, compared with mid-adolescence for the middle frontal gyrus. The rise and fall of synaptic density is paralleled by changes in cerebral glucose metabolism, which show low levels at birth except in sensorimotor regions, increases in parietal, occipital and temporal areas at 3 months of age, and increases in the PFC only at about 8 months (Chugani and Phelps, 1986). Increasing gray matter thickness with age, which may be associated with dendritic proliferation, was prominent over the perisylvian language areas, particularly Broca's and Wernicke's areas in the left hemisphere and correlated with improvement in phonological skills over a period of approximately 2 years (Lu et al., 2007).

It has been suggested that the increased activity of the frontal lobe in the second half of the first year coincides with the infant's ability to learn to inhibit a prepotent response in the A not B task (Bell and Fox, 1994; Luciana, 2003). Although it is difficult to find precise behavioral correlates between synaptogenesis and self-regulation, neuropsychological studies suggest that between the ages of 10 and 12 years, children attain adult levels of performance on some EF tasks, such as the Tower of Hanoi, verbal fluency and motor sequencing, in parallel with the process of synapse elimination (Luciana, 2003; Welsh, 2001).

In summary, experimental research on animals and children shows that synaptogenesis and pruning are stages of development that can be altered by sensory and motor experience. In humans, there appears to be a later time course for these processes in the PFC, compared to primary sensory areas.

2.3.2. Myelination

Developmental changes in myelination have been accurately measured using neuroimaging techniques (Sowell et al., 2004). Myelination in the cerebrum has been shown to commence in the fetus and progress from caudal to rostral areas until late adolescence or early adulthood (Giedd et al., 1999; Paus et al., 1999; Sowell et al., 1999). Thinning of the grey matter, associated with myelination, was concurrent with brain growth between ages 5 and 11 years. Progressive thinning (i.e., myelination) was first observed between ages 4 and 8 years in primary sensory and motor areas, then in parietal regions involved in spatial orientation and language at age 11–13 years, and finally in the prefrontal cortex in late adolescence. In the left lateral dorsal, frontal and parietal regions, thinning was correlated with changes in scores on the Vocabulary subtest of the Woodcock Johnson test, which is indicative of general verbal ability (Sowell et al., 2004) and in the hand area of the left precentral gyrus, progressive thinning was correlated with improved motor skills (Lu et al., 2007).

In summary, neuroimaging studies confirm the earlier findings from post-mortem research, suggesting that there is a progressive increase in myelination from posterior to rostral regions, which culminates in the prefrontal cortex during late adolescence or early adulthood. A higher correlation between the developmental trajectory of the cortex was found in monozygotic compared to dizygotic twins in prefrontal, but not posterior regions of cortex. This suggests that the development of the prefrontal areas is predominantly determined by genetic factors, whereas parietal and temporal regions may be more influenced by environmental factors (Toga et al., 2006). Individual differences in developmental trajectories can be correlated with cognitive function. Superior intelligence (>120 intelligence quotient (IQ)), as measured by estimated IQ scores, was associated with a delayed peak of cortical thickness at approximately 11 years of age in the superior medial prefrontal gyrus bilaterally and the left middle temporal gyrus. This was followed by a more rapid decline in thickness in late adolescence. In contrast, children of average intelligence showed a gradual increase in thickness, peaking at around 5–6 years and more gradual thinning, whereas children with high IQ (100–120) were in between the average and superior group (Shaw et al., 2006).

2.3.3. Connectivity

Connectionist models of development (Johnson, 1999, 2003) suggest that behavior develops as a consequence of maturation of connections between brain regions. In support of this model, studies show that in infants and children, certain tasks might involve widespread activation of different cortical regions, which then become more spatially restricted as intra-cortical pathways develop. This pattern of activation has been shown for verbal tasks in children, which initially activate widespread cortical areas, but become more focused over left temporal regions as vocabulary develops (Neville and Bavelier, 2002). Finally, Johnson points out that acquisition of behaviors in children parallels skill-learning in adults, such that frontal areas that are active in the initial effortful learning stages become less active as the skill becomes more automatic. For instance, increased ability to suppress interference from irrelevant flanker stimuli in adults, compared to children (8-12 years old), was associated with a switch in the primary areas of activation from the left PFC and insula in children, and a right frontal-parietal-basal ganglia network in adults. Moreover, children who performed better on response inhibition than other children of the same age showed less activation of the left PFC. In children aged 5.3-16 years there is a significant correlation between the volume of the area of the right anterior cingulate and the ability to perform tasks relying upon focal attentional control (Casey et al., 1997). These data suggest that maturation of self-regulation involves a shift in the locus of frontal lobe control, which might be mediated by a change in strategy, that is, a reduced need for mental verbalization (Bunge et al., 2002a,b). Increased levels of myelination of fronto-striatal axons, as measured by restricted diffusion in diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), were associated with faster reaction times in the go trials of a go/no-go task in children and adults. Children, but not adults, showed slowing in trials that had a high level of conflict, and the slowing was positively correlated with diffusivity and negatively correlated with accuracy on no-go trials. Thus, increased fronto-striatal connectivity during development led to ameliorated performance of high conflict trials and inhibition of prepotent go responses (Liston et al., 2006).

Thus, self-regulation can be viewed as a capacity that depends on maturation and integration of the PFC with other cortical and sub-cortical structures. Consistent with this idea are the findings about power and coherence changes in frontal and parietal electroencephalogram (EEG) alpha in infants during the first years of life and their relation with emotional self-regulation when faced with maternal facial emotional expressions, maternal separation, etc. (Bell and Fox, 1994; Dawson, 1994).

2.3.4. Role of neurotransmitters in cortical development

Numerous studies have found that the classical modulating neurotransmitters are more abundant in the foetal brain than in the adult brain of rodents and are critical for many of the developmental processes mentioned above (Benes et al., 2000; Gu, 2002; Hohmann, 2003). Thus, gestational exposure to drugs, stress and malnutrition can have profound effects on the foetal brain. Acetylcholine (ACh) and acetylcholinesterase play major roles in the maintenance and growth of neurons and in synaptogenesis (reviewed in Hohmann, 2003). Basal forebrain cholinergic projections influence dendritic arborization (Villabos et al., 2000) and the development of normal cytoarchitecture (Nishimura et al., 2002; Zhu et al., 2002).

Reciprocal effects of serotonin (5 hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)) and DA on innervation of the cortex have been found. Neurotoxic lesions of 5-HT neurons in the raphe nuclei increased the number of midbrain DA neurons and dopaminergic innervation of the cortex, suggesting that 5-HT and DA neurons interact competitively (Benes et al., 2000). 5-HT, but not catecholamine neurons, also affected the morphology and delayed the appearance of gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) interneurons in the cortex (Durig and Hornung, 2000). 5-HT was shown to be necessary for neurogenesis, migration, synaptic remodeling and dendritic growth (Whitaker-Azmitia, 2001). Noradrenaline was shown to be critical for synaptic plasticity in the monocular deprivation model mentioned above (reviewed in Gu, 2002). Glutamate was also found to be critical for cortical development. Double knock-out mice for two glutamate transporters, glutamate aspartate transporter (GLAST) and glutamate transporter (GLT), showed disrupted neurogenesis, poor orientation of radial glial cells essential for migration of neurons and other abnormalities, which were partially reversed by glutamate receptor antagonists (Matsugami et al., 2006). In conclusion, the development of neurotransmitter systems is critical not only for their synaptic actions, but because of their role in regulating early developmental processes that occur in gestation and postnatally.

3. The causes of individual differences in self-regulation

3.1. Temperament

The concept of temperament refers to those core individual differences around which the personality of the child will eventually develop. This is an intuitive definition. However, beyond it, researchers markedly differ regarding the exact conceptualization of this construct (Bates, 1989). Most researchers agree that temperament refers to those innate individual differences in behavioral tendencies and style, which appear early in life and remain relatively stable across situations and time (Goldsmith et al., 1987). Researchers disagree, for example, with regard to the question of whether those behavioral tendencies must be genetic and are present early after birth (Buss and Plomin, 1984) or some aspects of it emerge during childhood, and develop as a function of brain maturation (Posner and Rothbart, 1998). The methods for measuring temperament vary from the common parental report (Rothbart et al., 2001), to direct observations of child behavior within systematic laboratory batteries (Lab-Tab, Goldsmith and Rothbart, 1996). In all these measures, children are rated along different temperamental dimensions, such as the tendency to display positive emotionality, the tendency to approach toward novel stimuli, etc.

From the different models of temperament, the most relevant to the topic of self-regulation being discussed in this paper is Rothbart's model (Rothbart, 1989; Rothbart and Bates, 1998). Her approach defines temperament as individual differences in: (a) reactivity; meaning the speed, style and intensity of the initial behavioral and/or emotional response and (b) selfregulation; meaning the capacity to modify this reaction by engaging behavioral strategies and exerting effortful selfcontrol. The dimensions belonging to the reactivity factor are innate and include positive and negative reactions. These are expressed via somatic, autonomic, cognitive, and neuroendocrine reactions (Rothbart, 1989). Individuals differ in the thresholds of these reactions, their intensity, temporal characteristics, etc. In addition, there are individual differences in self-regulatory capability. Children differ already at infancy in the initial self-soothing behaviors, such as, finger-sucking (Rothbart et al., 1992). Most important, children differ in the more effortful self-regulatory and self-monitoring processes that begin to develop at preschool age. This means that there are individual differences in self-monitoring capacities that include selective orientation toward or away from the stimuli and inhibition of a dominant response. This temperamental factor is called effortful control and it heavily depends on executive aspects of attention (Posner and Rothbart, 2000; Rueda et al., 2005a) and EFs (Rueda et al., 2005b). Therefore, effortful control develops relatively late and continues to develop during childhood.

Negative correlations between the temperamental factors of effortful control and reactivity, are found both in parent reports of the temperament of their children and in laboratory observations. For example, as mentioned previously, research on the tendency to display anger shows that children high in effortful control are low in their tendency to react with anger or other negative emotions. This finding is also consistent with the notion that attentional skills may help attenuate negative affect (Gerardi-Caulton, 2000; Rothbart et al., 2001). As mentioned in Section 2, this type of correlation has also been found in adults.

Moreover, there are indications for some degree of heritability in the individual characteristics of self-regulation, based on greater similarity between identical twins than between fraternal twins. This has been demonstrated both in measures of emotional regulation (Goldsmith et al., 1997; Goldsmith and Davidson, 2004) and, executive aspects of attention (Fan et al., 2001).

3.1.1. Stability of individual differences in effortful control

Significant stability has been found repeatedly in individual characteristics of effortful control both across measurements, and across time. Longitudinal studies show that sustained attention at the age of 9 months predicts effortful control at the age of 22 months (Kochanska et al., 1998, 2000). Moreover, in these longitudinal studies, children perform consistently across different tasks within the battery designed for assessing

effortful control. Children were also stable in their performance across time. Further evidence for the stability of effortful control can be found in the studies of Mischel (1993) and Shoda et al. (1990), who found that the length of the delay that preschoolers successfully waited for a reward predicted their parent-reported attentiveness, ability to concentrate and control over negative affect when these children were adolescents. Moreover, individual differences in performance of EF task were found to be stable in toddlers between ages 24 and 39 months (Carlson et al., 2004). Stability in performance in tasks requiring working memory and inhibitory control have also been reported by Diamond et al. (1997) in their longitudinal study on children treated for phenylketonuria and a comparison group of siblings.

3.1.2. Temperamental differences in self-regulation and left-right frontal EEG asymmetries

Developmental evidence suggests a relation between electrophysiological left-right frontal asymmetry and regulatory aspects of temperament and affective styles. This relation has been observed as early as the first year of life (Bell and Wolfe, 2004; Wolfe and Bell, 2004). For example, infants who cry at maternal separation are more likely to show right frontal brain electrical activation at rest (Fox, 1994; Fox et al., 1994). Moreover, infants who display more negative affect and more motor activity at the age of 4 months tend to show right frontal activation at the age of 9 months and inhibited behavior at 14 months (Calkins et al., 1996). Individual differences in temperament and frontal asymmetry in their brain activity are likely to be relatively stable throughout the preschool years (Fox et al., 2001; see a more detailed review of the evidence connecting electroencephalogram (EEG) asymmetry and temperament in Fox and Calkins, 2003 and Bell and Wolfe, 2004). Evidence based on EEG asymmetry also supports the suggested relation between attention and emotional regulation. For example, Perez-Edgar and Fox (2000) found that children having greater attentional focus and lower distractibility showed greater self-control of emotion and increased leftright frontal EEG asymmetry.

3.2. Environmental influences

3.2.1. Influences of attachment

In addition to the individual characteristics emanating from a child's own genetic endowment, the environment heavily influences the development of self-regulation. Early sensitive caregiving and the quality of the attachment that the child develops toward his caregiver seem to have long-lasting effects in the mental representational model of adult attachment relationships (Bowlby, 1973, 1980), as well as for the selfregulatory mechanisms for coping with stress (Goldberg, 2000; Schore, 1994) that the child develops.

Based on his studies with rodents, Hofer (1996) asserts that the mother–infant relationship regulates the infant's neuronal system, and its loss or dysfunction implies poor modulation and coordination of physiological function, affect, and behavior. Staying close to and interacting with the mother seems to be not only important for the infant's survival but offers many opportunities to regulate the infant's physiological and behavioral system (Hofer, 1995; Polan and Hofer, 1999). Meaney's group showed that in rats, low levels of maternal behavior, such as licking and nursing, impaired spatial learning in the water maze and reduced hippocampal synaptogenesis compared to offspring of dams showing better maternal care (Liu et al., 2000). The offspring of poor mothers showed less inhibitory regulation of the stress-induced hormonal response of hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis and greater behavioral signs of anxiety in response to novel or aversive stimuli (Caldji et al., 2000).

There is also evidence that long-term influences of attachment on the regulation of affect and social competence are related to serotonergic and dopaminergic neurotransmitter systems in primates (Suomi, 2000). Just as in rat pups and baby monkeys, there is an increasing awareness in the literature that in humans too, the mother-infant unit ensures the ontogenetic development of biological regulators (Fonagy and Target, 2002). Several studies by Kochanska (2001) and Kochanska et al. (1996, 1997, 2000) are relevant for testing the hypothesis that effortful control is influenced by the context of the motherinfant relationship, that is, influenced by attachment processes. The pioneering studies of attachment in infants conducted by Ainsworth et al. (1978) were based on a laboratory procedure known as "the strange situation". This procedure tests the reaction of the infant to his mother in the presence of a stranger. The infant is observed when his/her mother leaves the room and when she is reunited with him/her, and the attachment style is classified as secure, resistant, avoidant, or disorganized (Main and Solomon, 1990).

Kochanska (2001) demonstrated that infants' attachment classification in the strange situation at 14 months of age predicts their emotional regulation almost 2 years later, at the age of 33 months. They found that insecure children were resistant, avoidant, and disorganized, had difficulties in regulating their affect, and showed more fear and anger in situations designed to elicit these emotions and more distress in situations designed to elicit joy, than did secure children. In animal studies, maternal separation (MS) during the first 3 weeks of life (before weaning) when synaptogenesis is taking place, increased anxiety behaviors (Parfitt et al., 2004; Romeo et al., 2003) and led to either a blunted (Mirescu et al., 2004) or exaggerated (Parfitt et al., 2004) release of corticosterone by the adrenal glands in response to stress. In addition, MS reduced stress-induced neurogenesis, a critical process in neural plasticity (Mirescu et al., 2004).

There is also empirical evidence that mother-infant affectsynchrony affects the emergence of self-control. Feldman et al. (1999) found that maternal synchrony with infant affect at 3 months of age (infant-leads-mother-follows relation) and mutual synchrony at 9 months (cross-dependence between maternal and infant affect) were each related to self-control at 2 years of age when temperament, IQ, and maternal style were partialled out. Infant temperament moderated the relations of synchrony and self-control, and closer associations were found between mutual synchrony and self-control for difficult infants. Based on these findings, they suggested that mutual regulation of affect in infancy, as moderated by temperament, is important to the emergence of self-regulation.

3.2.2. Parenting strategies and styles

Parents adopt different strategies and styles toward their offspring. An authoritative, rather than alternative style supports the child's internalization of social guidelines. A balance of warmth and firm guidance that is appropriate to the child's age and understanding and supports in developing inner control, leads to both independence and sociability (Baumrind, 1972; Baumrind and Black, 1967). Children of authoritative parents tend to be able to control behavior in accordance with adults' expectations, and exhibit little anti-social behavior. In addition, they are self-assured and competent in their social skills. These characteristics have been found not only in childhood but also in adolescence, where a low incidence of drug abuse has also been documented (Baumrind, 1991a,b,c). Another aspect of parental behavior that has been studied is the degree of intrusiveness. For example, Nachmias et al. (1996) found that children of mothers who were more intrusive with their wary children in a novel situation had more regulatory difficulties. Results of such studies suggest that parents who allow autonomy, facilitate their children's ability to regulate their own behavior. According to this view, children will most likely be able to internalize aspects of their social surroundings when there are opportunities for them to autonomously initiate and maintain behavior. Thus, while recognizing the importance of parents' responding to children's distress and structuring their environments to facilitate adaptation, parents who are too active and do not provide opportunities for autonomous regulation will likely undermine children's capacity to self-regulate. Studies employing laboratory tasks in which the self-regulation of the child is measured in parallel to the behavior of the mother seem to support these ideas (Calkins and Johnson, 1998; Silverman and Ragusa, 1990; Spinrad et al., 2004).

4. The effects of individual differences in self-regulation

Individual differences in effortful control are related to some aspects of meta-cognitive knowledge, such as theory of mind (i.e., knowing that people's behavior is guided by their beliefs, desires, and other mental states Carlson and Moses, 2001). Moreover, tasks that require the inhibition of a prepotent response correlate with theory of mind tasks even when other factors such as age, intelligence, and working memory are factored out (Carlson and Moses, 2001; Hughes and Ensor, 2005). Inhibitory control and theory of mind share a similar developmental time-course, with advances in both areas between the ages of 2 and 5 years of age. In addition, Kochanska et al. (1996) have identified developmental links between effortful control and the development of conscience.

Negative correlations have been found between effortful control and aggression, and positive correlations between aggression and surgency, and aggression and negative affect, especially anger (Rothbart et al., 1994). Since effortful control

was not found to have a unique contribution to aggression, Posner and Rothbart (2000) suggested that effortful control regulates aggression indirectly by controlling reactive tendencies underlying surgency and negative affect. For example, children high in effortful control may be more able than others to direct attention away from the rewarding aspects of aggression by shifting attention away from negative cues related to anger. Supporting evidence for this relation can also be found in additional studies (Calkins and Dedmon, 2000; see a review of this line of evidence in Fox and Calkins, 2003). Also, individual performance on the spatial Stroop task has been found to be negatively correlated with the individual tendency to express negative affect (Gerardi, 1997). In Gerardi's study, the temperamental characteristics of the infants were measured using temperament questionnaires filled out by the parent. Infants showing high performance in the Stroop task were rated by the parents as having better regulation of their negative emotionality.

4.1. Self-regulation and the child's social functioning

An increasing body of empirical evidence supports the idea that self-regulation, especially regulation of negative emotional reactivity, affects the children's functioning, both at school and within their peer groups. For example, Eisenberg et al. (1993, 1994) examined the relations between frequency and intensity of negative emotion, attentional control and coping behavior, with preschool and kindergarten children's socio-metric status and social behavior. They studied this relation, by employing direct socio-metric scales and adults' estimations (parents and teachers) of socio-metric status. They found that emotional intensity and aggressive coping behavior, as reported by teachers at school, were related in boys to their socio-metric status. That is, high emotional intensity and aggressive coping behavior (as opposed to more constructive coping strategies) were associated with low levels of social functioning and with low socio-metric status. In contrast, high attentional control and constructive coping strategies were associated with positive social functioning. Also, Denham et al. (2003) found evidence in preschoolers of a strong influence of emotional selfregulation on a child's academic and social competence.

Although the actual relationship between emotional regulation and social functioning turns out to be more complex than the above schema, children who are better able to inhibit inappropriate behaviors, delay gratification, and use cognitive methods of controlling their emotion and behavior tend to be socially competent overall, liked by their peers, and well-adjusted (Calkins and Dedmon, 2000; Eisenberg et al., 1996, 1997, 2001; Gilliom et al., 2002; Lemery et al., 2002; Lengua, 2002). In contrast, intense, emotionally negative children are less popular with peers (Stocker and Dunn, 1990).

A similar relationship between weak self-regulation of negative affect and behavioral problems, such as aggressive behavior toward peers, has also been found beyond childhood, and seems to be relevant at adolescence also (Caspi et al., 1995). Longitudinal studies found supporting evidence for a prospective, predictive relation between emotional regulation at infancy and toddler years, and social functioning at school age (Eisenberg et al., 1997, 2000).

Regarding the mechanisms that connect self-regulation and adjustment, a study by Eisenberg et al. (2001) suggests that non-optimal self-regulation and control are intimately related to externalizing and internalizing behavioral problems. Their data supported the view that internalizing and externalizing children differ from each other, as well as from normal children, with regard to some types of regulation: (1) children classified as internalizing scored lower on impulsivity than those classified as externalizing; (2) children with both internalizing and externalizing symptoms were found to be lower than normal children in attentional regulation/effortful control; (3) internalizing children were somewhat higher in inhibitory control than externalizing children; (4) externalizing children displayed more negative emotionality in a disappointing situation than internalizing children. Overall, children rated high in internalizing behavioral problems were over controlled (high in involuntary control), and appeared to lack spontaneity and flexibility of control that is seen in children with healthy adjustment. In contrast, children with externalizing behavioral problems were under controlled (low both in effortful control and in involuntary control).

4.2. Self-regulation and compliance

Compliance to caregivers' instructions and requirements is a crucial and challenging developmental achievement during the process of socialization (Kaler and Kopp, 1990). Compliance refers to the ability of the child to cooperate with daily requirements and to accept behavioral standards imposed by the caregiving environment. Kochanska and Aksan (1995) distinguish between compliance within "do" requirements and compliance within "don't" requirements. "Don't" situations include inhibition or avoidance of a pleasant, but forbidden behavior. In contrast, "do" requirements involve the initiation of a new behavior according to the parent/educator instruction. These two types of requirements impose different challenges to the self-regulation ability of the child and follow different developmental stages. In most situations, it seems that compliance to "do" requirements is more challenging than to "don't" ones and develops later. Moreover, the percentage of compliance to "don't" requirements is usually higher than the percentage of compliance to "do" requirements, both in toddlers and preschoolers (Kochanska et al., 1998, 2001). One plausible explanation for this difference is that, whereas "don't" requires stopping or inhibiting a current behavior, "do" requires both, a) stopping a current behavior, and b) initiating a new one according to the request (Kochanska and Aksan, 1995).

According to Kochanska (1993), the development of compliance depends on the one hand on the quality of the mother–child interaction and the socialization process, and on the other hand, on the temperamental individual characteristics, especially in terms of self-regulation. This relation between self-regulation and compliance has been explored by Kochanska et al. (2001) in toddlers and preschoolers. In their

study, inhibitory control was assessed in a battery of tasks designed for toddlers and preschoolers, including delayed response to a candy, motor control when moving a toy animal (turtle/bunny) on a track, a turn-taking game, etc. Compliance to a "don't" requirement made by the mother was assessed in a situation in which attractive toys were placed in a laboratory room while the child was forbidden to touch them and was given boring/broken toys to play with instead. Children who received high scores in inhibitory control showed higher compliance to parental requirements.

Compliance of toddlers to their parents has been found to correlate with parental sensitivity and rearing philosophies. Moreover, maternal sensitivity and discipline strategy predicted compliance to other caregivers (Feldman and Klein, 2003). These and similar findings are consistent with the idea of generalization of socialization from the mother to non-maternal agents.

It should be mentioned that from the preschool years and onward, gender differences have been documented in compliance, with girls showing more compliant behavior than boys to the requests and demands of parents and adults in general (Eaton and Enns, 1986; Feingold, 1994; Maccoby and Jacklin, 1974; Ruble and Martin, 1998).

So far, we have described the typical developmental trajectory of self-regulation with respect to brain development and the interaction between environmental factors and individual differences. In addition, we stressed the importance of self-regulation for social adjustment. In the following sections, we will illustrate the anomalous development of self-regulation. Although there are several developmental syndromes related to failures of self-regulation (e.g., obsessive compulsive disorder), we chose to focus on ADHD because of its prevalence and the fact that it can be associated with both internalizing and externalizing problems. Moreover, there is a large body of research on animal models of ADHD that shed light on some of the neuronal mechanisms of this disorder.

4.3. Developmental pathologies in self-regulation—the case of ADHD

ADHD is one of the most common disorders of childhood, having a prevalence of at least 3–5% (American Psychiatric Association, 1994). The disorder is more common in boys than in girls, both in epidemiological and in clinical populations (American Psychiatric Association, 1994; Breton et al., 1999). Evidence suggests that the disorder has both genetic and environmental underpinnings. First-degree relatives of children with ADHD are 7.6 times more likely to have the disorder than are relatives of normal children (Biederman et al., 1992). Furthermore, 60% of children having a parent with ADHD are likely to be diagnosed as ADHD (Biederman et al., 1995). The high heritability estimates (75-90%) for ADHD in twin studies support a strong genetic contribution (Goodman and Stevenson, 1989; Larsson et al., 2004; Levy et al., 1997; Rietveld et al., 2004), and recent evidence from molecular genetics further attests to a genetic basis of the disorder. A number of studies have found the dopamine D4 receptor gene (DRD4) (Faraone and Biederman, 1998; LaHoste et al., 1996; Smalley et al., 1998) and the dopamine transporter gene (DAT1) (Cook et al., 1995; Gill et al., 1997) to be associated with ADHD.

Environmental factors seem to also have some contribution to the syndrome: for instance, family relationships, parent– child interaction, and family adversity are associated with the development and severity of the disorder (Biederman et al., 1995; Cunningham and Barkley, 1979; Jacobvitz and Sroufe, 1987).

For over 20 years, ADHD has been viewed as comprising three primary symptoms, namely poor sustained attention, impulsiveness, and hyperactivity (American Psychiatric Association, 1994; Barkley, 1981; Douglas, 1972, 1983). These behavioral deficits arise relatively early in childhood, typically before the age of 7 years of age, and are fairly persistent over development (Barkley, 1990; Hinshaw, 1994; Weiss and Hechtman, 1993). The three major impairments have currently been reduced to two, with hyperactivity and impulsivity constituting a single impairment. As a result, three subtypes of the disorder have been proposed in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV (DSM-IV; American Psychiatric Association, 1994): the predominantly inattentive type, the predominantly hyperactive–impulsive type and, most frequent, the combined type.

Children with ADHD place heavy demands on clinical, educational, and social services (Loeber, 1990). During development, ADHD is associated with greater risks for low academic achievement, poor school performance, retention in grade, school suspensions and expulsions (Barkley, 1990, 1997), poor peer and family relations, anxiety and depression, aggression, conduct problems and delinquency, early substance experimentation and abuse (Biederman et al., 1992), driving accidents and speeding violations (Barkley et al., 1993, 1996; Murphy and Barkley, 1996), as well as difficulties in adult social relationships, marriage, and employment (Barkley et al., 1990; Hinshaw, 1994; Murphy and Barkley, 1996; Nadeau, 1995; Weiss and Hechtman, 1993). Most of these developmental risks may be exacerbated by the presence of comorbid aggression-conduct problems (Barkley et al., 1990, 1993; Hinshaw, 1987, 1992, 1994). Treatments for ADHD often include parent, family, and teacher counseling about the disorder; parent and teacher training in behavior management techniques, special education resources, and psychoactive medications (Barkley, 1997).

Most of the children with ADHD are diagnosed at the age of 7–8 years old, when they enter elementary school. However, symptoms might be found much early. One of such early indices seems to be problems with emotional self-regulation. This was demonstrated by Nigg et al. (2004), who found correlations between early measures of emotional regulation and later symptoms of attention deficits.

In laboratory cognitive testing, ADHD subjects do especially poorly in tasks requiring inhibitory control, either motor (i.e., go/no-go stop-signal, and anti-saccade tasks) or cognitive (i.e., Stroop and flanker tasks), although there are some inconsistencies regarding some of these task (see review of empirical evidence related to failures in inhibition in Nigg, 2001). They also do poorly in tasks requiring sustained attention over time, such as the continuous performance tasks (e.g., Chae et al., 2001; Epstein et al., 1997; Weyandt et al., 2002) and show no RT adjustment after making an error (Sergeant and van der Meere, 1988). There is some evidence regarding impairment in tasks requiring reaction toward punishments and rewards, at behavioral and physiological levels. For example, children with ADHD showed attenuated heart rate reactions to changes in reward contingencies, such as extinction and reinstatement of reward, and showed faster habituation to reward, but they did not have elevated reward thresholds on an attentional operant task of Iaboni et al. (1997).

4.3.1. Alternative models for explaining ADHD

For many years, the most dominant theory of ADHD was that of Barkley (1990, 1997). According to his view, a deficit in inhibitory control is the core symptom underlying the development of broader deficits in EF, accounting for the wide range of dysfunctional behavior in ADHD. This model proposes a link between response inhibition and four EFs that depend on such inhibition for their own effective performance. These four functions serve to bring behavior under the control of internally represented information and self-directed actions. By doing so, the four functions permit greater goal-directed action and task persistence. The four executive neuropsychological functions are: (a) working memory, (b) self-regulation of affect-motivation arousal, (c) internalization of speech, and (d) behavioral analysis and synthesis. According to Barkley, the deficit in inhibitory control explains cognitive difficulties and causes problems in self-regulation of affect. His model predicts that children with ADHD will show also: (a) decreased empathy, (b) increased emotional responsivity to provoking situations, (c) diminished ability to anticipate emotional reactions to future events, (d) decreased capacity to regulate emotional states during goal-directed behavior, and (e) a greater reliance on externally based stimuli to provide the motivation and arousal needed to persist during goal-directed actions. Braaten and Rosen (2000) examined one of the hypotheses that emanated from Barkley's predictions-that boys with ADHD have a decreased ability to act empathically relative to those without ADHD. Empathy was measured by an empathy response task (ERT) and through self- and parentreports of emotion. On the ERT, children responded verbally to fictitious stories. Results revealed that boys with ADHD were less empathic than boys without ADHD. Boys with ADHD less frequently matched the emotion they identified in the character with the one identified in themselves and gave fewer charactercentered interpretations in their descriptions of the character's emotion. Parent-report data revealed that boys with ADHD exhibited more behavioral manifestations of sadness, anger, and guilt than did boys without ADHD. Their results suggested that children with ADHD may be able to self-regulate their positive emotions but not their negative emotions, relative to the control group, which was comparable in variables such as age, verbal intelligence, and socio-economic background.

However, not all the predictions of Barkely's model have been empirically confirmed and today his model is considered by many researchers as being too unidimensional. When reviewing the data regarding inhibition and ADHD, Nigg (2001) summarized that "For the ADHD combined type, data support a deficit in executive motor control. However, data are mixed with regard to interference control and are too limited to draw conclusions about cognitive inhibition". In addition to the lack of support regarding a generalized inhibitory deficit in ADHD, those deficits that are found tend not to be exclusive to ADHD, raising the possibility that an inhibitory deficit is *secondary* instead of *primary*, or at least not sufficient for explaining the complex range of symptoms and findings in this disorder.

Although there is convincing evidence for inhibition deficits in ADHD (Nigg, 2001), this might not characterize all, but only a portion of children with ADHD. For example, Nigg et al. (2005) have estimated that 35–50% of cases of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder-combined type have this kind of deficit.

4.3.2. Motivational theories of ADHD

An additional type of deficit that might help to explain ADHD is a motivational deficit, specifically, an anomalous reaction to rewards and punishments. The basic logic in this line of explanation for ADHD is that these children do not have a normal response to cues for the consequences of their behavior, leading to impulsive, poorly regulated and socially inappropriate behavior (Douglas, 1985; Douglas and Parry, 1994; McBurnett, 1992; Newman, 1998; Nigg, 2000; Quay, 1997; Sonuga-Barke, 2002, 2003, 2005; Sonuga-Barke et al., 1992). In other words, a motivational deficit explanation for ADHD implies that for children with this syndrome, threatening events, contextual cues for punishment, etc., do not trigger the same motivational cascade as in other children, which in turn produces a failure to regulate normal social learning. In this context, it has been suggested that children with ADHD have a primary motivational deficit, with more rapid habituation to repeated positive reinforcement (Iaboni et al., 1997), less arousal or behavioral response to punishment (Crone et al., 2003; Iaboni et al., 1997; Toplak et al., 2005), and "delay aversion" (Kuntsi et al., 2001; Sonuga-Barke et al., 1992).

The motivational hypothesis has to a large extent been based on the temporal discounting model which implies that children with ADHD will have a lower equivalence value when given a choice between immediate small rewards and larger delayed rewards. The equivalence point refers to the reward size and delay value for which a subject prefers/does not prefer the larger reward over the smaller reward. The findings in this area with respect to children and adolescents with ADHD are equivocal. When adolescents with ADHD were asked to make a hypothetical choice between a delayed (1 month-10 years) fixed reward of US\$ 100 or an immediate reward ranging from US\$ 1-100, they had steeper temporal discounting than controls, but this effect was not replicated when the delayed amount was set at US\$ 1000 and the varying immediate amounts ranged from US\$ 10-1000 in intervals of US\$ 100. This suggested that the group effect depended on the reward magnitude (Barkley et al., 2001). In contrast to Barkley et al.'s (2001) study, which partially supports the notion of steeper

temporal discounting in ADHD children, Sonuga-Barke et al. (1992) implied that the immediacy preference seen in impulsive children is a result of aversion from all delays, pre- or postreward. An elegant task design enabled Sonuga-Barke et al. to distinguish between three alternative sources of the impulsive preference bias. Interestingly, it was found that impulsive and control children are equally good reward maximizers, as they both shifted their preference to the bigger delayed reward when a post reward delay was added to the immediate reward condition. When the task duration was fixed, both groups tended to prefer the immediate reward, that is, all children preferred many small reinforcements to fewer large reinforcements. However, when the number of responses was fixed, so that rewards could be maximized only by choosing the large delayed reward, the children with attention deficits chose the smaller immediate reward more often. This result, replicated by Kuntsi et al. (2001), emphasizes the idea that children with ADHD have a delay aversion, regardless of whether the delay is pre- or post-reinforcement. In accordance with this view, Scheres et al. (2006) did not find evidence for a steeper discounting rate in ADHD. However, in a signal detection task, where equally-sized immediate or delayed rewards were given after correct response to two similar stimuli, the response bias toward the stimulus associated with the immediate reward was stronger among ADHD children (Tripp and Alsop, 2001). This result suggests that ADHD children do show higher preference for immediate reward, but implies that its manifestation might be too subtle to be revealed in the explicit reward discounting procedure. Delay periods, whether pre- or post-reinforcement, are likely to be filled by fidgeting and other off-task behavior, typical of children with ADHD (Sonuga-Barke, 2003). It is interesting to note that in some studies reporting motivational deficits, the deficits emerged only in later phases, as the experiment progressed. For instance, in the gambling task, Toplak et al. (2005) found that the adolescents with ADHD chose more cards from the disadvantageous deck than adolescents in the control group in the last 50 trials, but not in first blocks of the session. Similarly, in the arrow flanker go/ no-go task, Crone et al. (2003) noted deterioration in accuracy in the ADHD group in later phases, compared to the first phase. In that study, punishment was introduced in the later phases of the experiment, revealing a more attenuated physiological and behavioral response in the children with ADHD. Iaboni et al. (1997) found that children with ADHD habituated faster to reward and had an attenuated heart rate and skin conductance response to extinction and reinstatement of reward, which were introduced in later phases of the experiment. Thus, it is plausible that the alleged motivational deficit in the children with ADHD is a manifestation of fatigue and effort.

Sonuga-Barke (2005) proposed that what are usually regarded as competing, traditional approaches to ADHD, should be seen as complimentary accounts of the subtypes of ADHD. According to this proposal, each sub-type includes a different psychophysio-pathology, with different developmental pathways, underpinned by different cortico-striatal circuits and modulated by different branches of the dopamine system. One is the neuro-cognitive aspect of ADHD, which is an executive dysfunction underpinned by disturbances in the fronto-dorsal striatal circuit and associated dopaminergic branches (e.g., mesocortical, Casey, 2001). The other is the motivational aspect of ADHD, which is an altered reward process and delay aversion that implicates fronto-ventral striatal reward circuits and mesolimbic branches that terminate in the ventral striatum, especially the nucleus accumbens (Sonuga-Barke, 2003).

4.3.3. The energetic model of ADHD

In addition to the inhibitory and motivational deficits, there is a third type of explanation to the deficits in ADHD, namely the energetic approach (Sergeant, 1995, 1996, 2005; Sergeant et al., 1999, 2003; Sergeant and van der Meere, 1990; van der Meere and Stemerdink, 1999). According to this approach, a deficit in arousal and activation could explain the findings mentioned above-that children with ADHD perform poorly in tasks requiring sustained attention over a long period of time and that their reaction times are usually longer than controls-a type of finding that, at first sight, seems contradictory with their impulsivity (see reviews in Berger and Posner, 2000; Sergeant et al., 2003). Moreover, since the right frontal brain regions are involved both in alertness/vigilance and in executive aspects of attention, the energetic model is also consistent with the neuroanatomical and functional evidence cited in the next section indicating abnormalities in this brain region in children with ADHD.

Deficits in vigilance *per se* are difficult to isolate from the executive aspects that govern attention in older children and adults. However, a recent study in our lab provides initial evidence that in 1-year-old infants, who do not yet have a developed executive attention, a deficit in vigilance might distinguish between those at risk for ADHD and their comparison group (Berger et al., submitted).

A new and provocative, but still very speculative, energetic approach has been recently proposed by Russell et al. (2006). They proposed a metabolic deficit in glia cells. Specifically, they hypothesize that in ADHD, astrocyte function is insufficient, particularly in terms of its formation and supply of lactate. This insufficiency has implications both for performance and development: (1) in rapidly firing neurons there is deficient adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production, slow restoration of ionic gradients across neuronal membranes and delayed neuronal firing and (2) in oligodendrocytes, insufficient lactate supply impairs fatty acid synthesis and myelination of axons during development. These effects are hypothesized to manifest behaviorally as inefficient and inconsistent performance (variable response times across the lifespan, especially during activities that require sustained speeded responses and complex information processing).

4.3.4. The ADHD inattentive subtype

Most of the empirical research and theoretical models described so far relate to the combined type of ADHD (Nigg, 2001). It has been suggested that the inattentive ADHD group suffers from dysfunction in cognitive but not behavioral suppression, and exhibits poor interference control; however,

studies providing empirical data on this subtype to support this claim are lacking (Nigg, 2001). Recently, an additional model has been suggested by Diamond (2005) for explaining this subtype. According to this view, while the core problem in the combined type may lay in response inhibition; the core problem in the truly inattentive type of ADHD is in working memory. Moreover, Diamond suggests that "children with the truly inattentive type of ADHD, rather than being distractible, may instead be easily bored, their problem being more in motivation (under-arousal) than in inhibitory control". In other words, Diamond suggests that the motivational and energetic deficits presented above are involved in the inattentive subtype, without involvement of the neuro-cognitive deficit of inhibition. According to this view, the combined and the inattentive subtypes are not two different types of ADHD, but two different disorders with different cognitive and behavioral profiles, different patterns of comorbidities, different responses to medication, and different neurological substrates.

4.3.5. Evidence of brain abnormalities of frontal areas in ADHD

Pathologies of the brain frontal areas related to inhibitory control, executive attention and vigilance have been extensively found in ADHD (Berger and Posner, 2000). Volumetric differences between children with ADHD and controls have been found mainly in those brain areas involved in inhibitory control of motor responses, such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and the caudate nucleus of the basal ganglia (Aylward et al., 1996; Filipek et al., 1997). Children with ADHD, have smaller frontal lobe grey and white matter volumes than agematched controls (Mostofsky et al., 2002). Other studies have shown additional volume reductions in parietal, temporal, anterior cingulate and cerebellar regions (Carmona et al., 2005) in children with this syndrome. Right midbrain dopa decarboxylase activity, inferred from binding of radioactive fluoradopa, was found to be higher in boys with ADHD than in controls and positively correlated with symptom severity (Ernst et al., 1999). Left lateral and midline prefrontal dopa decarboxylase, on the other hand, was reduced in adults with ADHD by approximately 50% compared to matched controls.

There are discrepant findings regarding DAT binding in ADHD, with many studies reporting increased binding and others reporting no change in striatal DAT binding (reviewed in Spencer et al., 2005). A single study, using a different ligand than previous studies, found a decrease in midbrain DAT and D2 receptors in adolescents with ADHD compared to control adults (Jucaite et al., 2005).

Functional abnormalities have been found with imaging techniques such as fMRI, during performance of tasks demanding inhibitory control, such as the stop-signal and go/no-go tasks (Bush et al., 1999; Casey et al., 1997; Casey, 2001; Durston et al., 2003; Rubia et al., 1999; Vaidya et al., 1998). For example, Vaidya et al. showed that children with ADHD had higher frontal activation and lower striatal activation than control children during response inhibition. Moreover, administration of methylphenidate led to improved performance associated with increased frontal activation for

both groups and an increase in striatal activation for the children with ADHD. Durston et al. (2003), in part, replicated these findings in younger children with ADHD, showing that the striatum was the most robust region of difference between children with and without the disorder. Functional abnormalities have also been found in the electrophysiological brain functioning of children with ADHD in these types of tasks, by studies employing EEG/ERP techniques (Dimoska et al., 2003; Overtoom et al., 2003; Pliszka et al., 1997, 2000). This literature suggests local abnormalities in cerebral activation in ADHD, with a hypo-perfusion of prefrontal and possibly striatal areas. Functional studies using cognitive control paradigms show deficits in frontal and striatal function, further implicating this circuitry. These results confirm the evidence from the developmental fMRI literature that the development of cognitive control is supported by the maturation of frontostriatal circuitry, and that poor cognitive control in ADHD is related to changes in this circuitry (Durston and Casey, 2006).

Overall, the volumetric and functional abnormalities found in ADHD tend to support mainly the neuro-cognitive account; however, there is recent evidence of lower levels of DAT in the nucleus accumbens of adults with ADHD (Volkow et al., 2007). More direct research on neuro-imaging deficits in motivation in ADHD is required.

As mentioned above, there is also genetic evidence that gives further support for the involvement of the dopamine systems in the frontal lobe in ADHD. Recent findings indicate that ADHD may involve a mutation of the D4 dopamine receptor gene, which is largely expressed in the cortex and thalamus, but not the basal ganglia (Meador-Woodruff et al., 1996; Mrzljak et al., 1996). Overall, the neuroimaging and genetic evidence support the involvement in ADHD of all the brain areas included in the executive attention network, that is, the basal ganglia, PFC and the cerebellum.

4.3.6. Contribution of animal models to the understanding of self-control and impulsive behavior

Self-control can be modeled in controlled laboratory situations, thereby facilitating the investigation of underlying neural mechanisms. In the following section, several animal tests of self-control and attention, such as reward discounting, and premature or preservative responding on a vigilance task, will be reviewed in light of parallel behaviors in children with attention or conduct disorders. Evenden (1999) reviewed the conceptualization of impulsivity in personality through psychiatric studies and concluded that impulsivity is a multifactorial behavior with independent and varied manifestations in healthy and impaired human behavior. In particular, various nosologies distinguish among aggressiveness, venturesomeness, disinhibition, and a variety of other dimensions. In the animal literature, the most common approaches to evaluate self-control are based on reward discounting, or control of response rate or timing. However, as pointed out by Evenden (1999), these paradigms may not capture certain facets of impulsivity, such as lack of persistence. In a meticulous analysis of the relation between several behavioral tests of impulsive behavior and locomotor activity, reward discounting appeared to be dissociated from other operant indices of impulsivity, and locomotor activity was not correlated with other operant measures of impulsivity (Dellu-Hagedorn, 2006). Our review in this section will be limited to reward discounting, auto-shaping and the five-choice serial reaction time (5-CSRT) paradigms, which have been extensively studied in the context of animal tests of self-control. Specific attention will be focused on animal models of ADHD that have used these paradigms in addition to measuring increased locomotor activity.

The most direct approach to evaluate self-control relies on the observation that the subjective value of a delayed reward is reduced compared to the subjective value of an immediate reward, a phenomenon usually referred to as temporal discounting. Mazur (1988, 2000) was the first to demonstrate that the subjective value of a delayed reward is best described by a hyperbolic, rather than an exponential function. Whereas the exponential temporal discount function postulates a fixed discount proportion per time, the hyperbolic discounting function predicts increased discounting at short delays and less discounting as the delay progresses in fixed increments. The hyperbolic function predicts that there is a point at which the relative value of two different alternatives can switch, whereas the exponential function predicts that one of the choices will be consistently preferred over the other. The hyperbolic function was validated empirically by Richards et al. (1997) who found that the function accounted for 98% of the variance of delayed reward preferences in a group of eight rats. Discounting steepness is usually regarded as an index for impulsivity and can be described by a single impulsivity factor derived from the hyperbolic function. Moreover, discount functions can be modeled to account for changes in temporal delay, reward magnitude and reward probability, and can be used to predict motivational effects and neural substrates of impulsive behavior (Ho et al., 1999).

Other approaches designated to model impulsive behavior, such as differential reinforcement of low rate (DRL) and autoshaping procedures, can be formulated in accordance with discounting principles (Monterosso and Ainslie, 1999). In the DRL behavioral test, an operant response is rewarded only if it occurs after a fixed interval of time has expired. The degree to which an organism responds prematurely is used as a measure of impulsivity. Likewise, the autoshaping procedure is considered to be a measure of impulsivity because the response is executed even though it is not required and even delays the primary reward. A variation of these procedures, developed by Evenden (1999) is the paced fixed consecutive number (FCN) operant procedure, which allows better control for confounding motor effects of drugs. In contrast to the DRL, in which the animal is required to execute at least one operant after a fixed interval (e.g., DRL 72 s), the FCN requires the execution of a predetermined number of responses on one lever, before responding on another lever in order to obtain a reward. The animal is required to switch levers after executing the FCN, controlling for the possibility of stereotyped behavior, and is required to make a minimal number of consecutive responses, controlling for sedative effects. However, pharmacological studies of this procedure are ambiguous. Both haloperidol and amphetamine increased impulsivity, whereas specific serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) decreased impulsivity. Thus far, the FCN procedure has not been explored with respect to lesion or genetic animal models of attention deficits.

In summary, various operant procedures have been developed to test self-control in laboratory rodents. Despite procedural differences, Monterosso and Ainslie (1999) claim that temporal discounting is a key underlying property in DRL and autoshaping, as premature responses in DRL and autoshaped responses are intrinsically rewarding. Because temporal discounting has also been used in neuroimaging studies of healthy subjects (McClure et al., 2004) and in numerous studies on children and adolescents with attention deficits (see above), this paradigm will be reviewed in more detail in the following sections.

4.3.7. Temporal discounting

Several studies have demonstrated that when humans face the choice between a small and immediate monetary reward and a delayed or probabilistic larger reward, they act according to a hyperbolic discounting function (e.g., Myerson et al., 2003). However, the range of delays used in human and animal studies is hardly congruent (ranging from several seconds to 2 min in animals compared to minutes to years for humans), and the rewards are fundamentally different in their nature (symbolic or real money in humans compared to food for an animal under food deprivation). Yet, the view that a common behavioral mechanism controls preference shift in humans and other species is reinforced by the findings of an identical discounting pattern. In order for temporal discounting in animal studies to be considered as a model for ADHD that has face validity, there must be an a priori assumption that steeper discounting rates will be found in children and adolescents with ADHD.

The concept of temporal discounting of reward has become a central theme in the development of animal models of ADHD; however, as reviewed above, most of the data in this population suggests a more generalized delay aversion, which is not limited to the response-reinforcement interval (Luman et al., 2005).

Another crucial issue for developing a valid animal test is its predictive validity. The critical question is whether drugs that reduce symptoms of ADHD improve temporal discounting. Psychopharmacological studies in rodents have focused mainly on the DA drug effects on temporal discounting, since impulsive ADHD children are successfully treated with drugs that raise dopamine and norepinepherine levels, such as methylphenidate (MPH) and amphetamine (AMPH) (Biederman and Faraone, 2005; Madras et al., 2005). Increased value of delayed reward following treatment with stimulant drugs (e.g., Pietras et al., 2003; Richards et al., 1997; Winstanley et al., 2005) serves to strengthen the pharmacological validity of the reward discounting procedure, as it confirms a drug effect that is effective in children with ADHD (Evenden and Ko, 2005). Both AMPH and MPH regulate catecholamines by several complex and different mechanisms; however, both raise extracellular DA levels in the striatum and nucleus accumbens (NAC) and DA and NA levels in the frontal lobe (reviewed in Madras et al., 2005; Sullivan and Brake, 2003). DAT density in the PFC is sparse; however, MPH may raise DA levels by its activity on the noradrenergic transporter (NET), which has a high affinity for DA (Madras et al., 2005).

Serotonin (5-HT) is known to affect impulsive behavior, probably via interactions with cortical catecholamine systems. 5-HT depletion attenuates the ability of AMPH to reduce impulsivity although it has no direct effect on temporal discounting or on amphetamine-induced hyperactivity (Winstanley et al., 2003). While several studies did not find altered discounting functions after tryptophan depletion in human subjects (Anderson et al., 2003; Crean et al., 2002), tryptophan depletion did lead to a disinhibited response style in a continuous performance test (CPT) (Walderhaug et al., 2002) and to less optimal decision making in a reward-probability task (Rogers et al., 1999). Interactions between amphetamine and serotonergic drugs in humans remain to be tested. Considering the evidence mentioned above, it becomes clear that regulation of self-control is likely to involve complex interactions between DA, NA and 5-HT systems and that the pharmacological interactions revealed in animal studies must be further investigated in humans.

4.3.8. The five-choice serial reaction time (5-CSRT)

While self-control deficits are a core feature of various psychiatric disorders, their manifestations can be fundamentally different from one disorder to another (Evenden, 1999). Keeping this in mind, it would seem inadequate to solely evaluate self-control capacities in any given animal model, because in the absence of any other disorder-related contextual variables, attribution of a self-control deficit finding to a specific disorder, is somewhat arbitrary. An elegant solution to this problem is provided by the five-choice serial reaction time (5-CSRT) test, which enables simultaneous evaluation of spatial attention, impulsivity, and activity variables. The 5-CSRT test has been used to study various aspects of attentional performance and to mimic attention deficits in animal models of ADHD and schizophrenia (Le Pen et al., 2003).

The test apparatus consists of a concave wall with an array of five-nine illuminable apertures and a food magazine on the opposite wall. Successful nose-poking of an aperture following its brief illumination leads to the release of a food pellet from the food magazine. The task primarily tests sustained spatial attention, which can be deduced from the accuracy of responding to the stimuli. Additional response dimensions such as vigilance, motor activity, motivation and inhibitory control can be derived from the task. Measurements of response latencies are usually indicators of decision processes; however, slower response and magazine latencies (time to pick up food) would be more suggestive of motor or motivational factors. Similarly, errors of omission in the absence of changes in response latency may be related to attentional, rather than motor, sensory or motivational causes. Responses occurring during the inter-trial interval (ITI) are punished by a brief timeout and can be divided into two types. Firstly, premature responses, occurring during the period in which the rat presumably anticipates the illumination of one of the lights, are regarded as impulsive, as they represent a maladaptive form of behavior. Secondly, *perseverative* behavior, in which the rat continues to respond even following the stimuli presentation, are regarded as compulsive because they represent lost of inhibitory control and can be compared to autoshaped responses (see Robbins, 2002, for an excellent review).

The fact that the 5-CSRT test includes various independent performance variables has revealed dissociations between underlying neuronal substrates of various aspects of attention. This impressive achievement has been accomplished by Robbins and his colleagues in rats in over a decade of systematic analysis of the task, using lesion, metabolic and pharmacological methods (Robbins, 2002). To summarize, lesion studies have shown dissociations between response accuracy and inhibition of inappropriate responses in different neural systems. For example, medial PFC lesions dramatically reduced accuracy without affecting premature response rate, while ACC lesions enhanced premature response rate without affecting accuracy (Chudasama et al., 2003; Muir et al., 1996). In addition, infra limbic (IL) cortex lesions increased the rate of premature responses, while orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) lesions resulted in inappropriate perseverative responses, suggesting that impulsiveness and compulsiveness can be anatomically distinguished (Chudasama et al., 2003).

Systematic administration of SKF 38393, a partial D1 agonist, affected the accuracy of performance, but had no effect on inhibitory control. In contrast, ketanserin, a 5-HT_{2A} antagonist, reduced the number of premature responses, but had no effect on accuracy of performance (Passetti et al., 2003). The 5-CSRT test has led to the construction of a screening test for animal models of ADHD, by using cut-off criteria to select poor performers on this task. Puumala et al. (1996) compared the effect of methylphenidate on poor performers and good performers and a third group of good performers whose performance was impaired by reducing the duration of the stimulus. Accuracy was negatively correlated with the percent of premature responses. Premature response rates (impulsivity) were positively correlated with activity and rearing in the open field in the first, but not second session. These findings support the construct validity of the 5-CSRT paradigm. Methylphenidate resulted in a slight increase in accuracy rates but had no effect on premature responses in the poor performers, and had no effect in the controls.

Poor 5-CSRT test performers have also been shown to have distinct brain activation patterns compared to controls, as revealed by [¹⁴C] deoxyglucose (DG) metabolism. A positive correlation between accuracy rates and metabolic activity was found in most cortical regions, including the prefrontal cortex, and in the hippocampus, substantia nigra and substantia innominata. Conversely, a negative correlation was found between premature response rates and DG uptake in the cingulate and ventrolateral orbital cortex. Group differences between good and poor performers were found only in the areas allegedly related to premature responses—the cingulate and ventrolateral orbital cortex—a finding which parallels the reduction in activity in these regions in children with ADHD (Barbelivien et al., 2001).

Using a simplified version of the 5-CSRT test with only one aperture instead of five, involvement of the PFC, 5-HT and DA was determined by in vivo microdialysis and ex vivo HPLC (high performance liquid chromatography). Premature responding was associated with increased baseline and taskrelated 5-HT, but not DA levels in the PFC, as determined by microdialysis (Dalley et al., 2002a). A comparison of two subpopulations with low and high rates of premature responding revealed higher turnover of DA in the ACC in high impulsive rats compared to low impulsive rats, supporting the view that abnormal cingulate functioning may be a trait marker for impulsive behavior. Interestingly, this study contrasts with other studies linking decreased frontal 5-HT to increased impulsivity (Adriani et al., 2003), and suggests that interactions between 5-HT and DA in the PFC, and in particular in the ACC, control impulsive behavior.

In summary, several behavioral tests have been developed to try to evaluate self-control and attention deficits in rodents. On the one hand, temporal discounting was found to have some predictive pharmacological validity, in that drugs that improve performance in this task are also effective in the treatment of ADHD. On the other hand, there are few studies that clearly demonstrate temporal discounting in children or adolescents with ADHD and other explanations such as delay aversion cannot be ruled out. The 5-CSRT test includes measures of vigilance, impulsiveness and perseveration, which is somewhat akin to continuous performance tests that reveal poor performance in children with ADHD (Pennington, 1997; Shallice et al., 2002; Willcutt et al., 2005). Thus, the 5-CSRT test has face validity as a measure of attention impairment in children with attention deficits and it has predictive validity, since performance in a subgroup of poor performers was improved by methylphenidate (Puumala et al., 1996). However, the face validity of the self-control parameters (e.g., premature response) is still to be demonstrated. Construct validity as a test for attention is supported by the fact that manipulations that impair performance on attention tests in humans, such as distracting stimuli (white noise bursts), unpredictability (variable ITI) and degraded stimuli (short stimulus duration), have similar effects in the 5-CSRT test (Dalley et al., 2002a,b; Robbins, 2002).

4.3.9. Rodent models of ADHD

Several models of ADHD have been established in mice and rats, and described in recent reviews (Davids et al., 2003; Viggiano et al., 2003). In order for a rodent model to provide insight into neural mechanisms of a behavioral disorder, it should reflect the developmental aspect of ADHD, and show deficits in the area of attention as well as activity.

4.3.9.1. Lesion models of self-control deficits: prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens. Lesion models may enable us to explore the neuroanatomical basis of self-control. Problematically, essential differences in self-control abilities of humans and rodents can be attributed, at least to some extent, to the dramatic difference in the size of their frontal lobe.

Nonetheless, preclinical and clinical studies converge to suggest that attention deficits are associated with hypofunctioning of PFC DA circuits and hyperfunctioning of striatal DA circuits (Sullivan and Brake, 2003). In humans, it has been proposed that competition between two separate neural systems, representing immediate and delayed reward, underlie choice processes. fMRI brain scans of subjects performing the delayed discounting task indicated that choosing the delayed reward was associated with greater activation of the lateral prefrontal cortex and the posterior parietal cortex, while activation in the limbic areas was associated with bias toward the immediate reward (McClure et al., 2004). This result suggests that frontal lobe activity is necessary for conceiving the subjective value of delayed reward-a central ability for self-control. Surprisingly, animal studies suggest that choice preference in animals is determined by an equivalent neural process. Single-unit recording of the presumed pigeon analog of the human prefrontal cortex revealed increased frontal activity with the increase of the delay to reward. In addition, pigeon frontal activity was also correlated with the expected reward amount, suggesting that, in accord with human findings, pigeon frontal activity represents the subjective value of a reward (Kalenscher et al., 2005). Moreover, patients with OFC lesions commonly exhibit behavior patterns often described as impulsive, (Damasio and Anderson, 2003), leading to the prediction that rats with analogous lesions would choose small immediate rewards over larger delayed rewards. Children with ADHD are known to have reductions in gray matter volume of prefrontal areas (Kates et al., 2002; Krain and Castellanos, 2006) and altered asymmetry of the basal ganglia (Castellanos et al., 1994), supporting the face validity of the lesion models.

Although a steeper reward discounting function was indeed reported after OFC lesions (Mobini et al., 2002), paradoxically, some studies found increased tolerance to delay in an odds discounting paradigm following OFC lesions (Winstanley et al., 2004). This issue was resolved by systematically examining the effects of excitotoxic and 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) OFC lesions on functions that manipulated reward magnitude or probability. Kheramin et al. (2003, 2004) concluded that the apparent decreased sensitivity to temporal delay can be offset by an increase in sensitivity to difference in reward magnitude or reward probability induced by OFC lesions. Indeed, this was elegantly demonstrated in a study by Rudebeck et al. (2006) that found that OFC-lesioned rats could be taught to prefer a large delayed reward after being trained to reverse their tendency to prefer the small immediate reward. Thus, the OFC was critical for evaluating different parameters of rewards; however, neuronal activity encoding delay to reward and reward magnitude was not correlated, suggesting that in the OFC these two parameters are dissociable (Roesch et al., 2006).

Medial PFC lesions (within 0.5 mm of the midline) had no effect on temporal discounting (Cardinal et al., 2001), even though, as described above, this region was critically involved in the 5-CSRT task (Dalley et al., 2002a,b; Muir et al., 1996). These studies suggest that the different neural substrates of self-

control subserve performance on vigilance and reward evaluation tasks. On the other hand, ACC lesions did impair effort discounting in rats that were given the choice between a large reward that had to be obtained by climbing a barrier or a small reward that was easily obtained (Rudebeck et al., 2006). This finding is consistent with the motivational models of ADHD (Sergeant et al., 1999) and inattentive attention deficit disorder (Diamond, 2005). The dissociation between performance of OFC- and ACC-lesioned rats is consistent with the view that impulsive and inattentive behavior are mediated by different substrates.

Reward discounting was also affected by neurotoxin lesions in the nucleus accumbens, a structure critical for evaluation of reward in human and other species (Pagnoni et al., 2002; Schultz, 2004). Excitotoxic (Cardinal et al., 2001) and specific 6-hydroxydopamine lesions both enhance locomotor activity, but lead to different effects on reward discounting. Whereas excitotoxic lesions led to less tolerance to a delayed reward, 6-OHDA lesions had no effect on temporal discounting (Winstanley et al., 2005) and did not reduce the ability of amphetamine to reduce impulsive reward choice. However, 6-OHDA lesions of the NAC reduced the ability of a $5-HT_{1A}$ receptor agonist to increase the rate of impulsive choices. The series of studies by Winstanley and her colleagues reveal that hyperactivity and reward discounting are dissociated with respect to the underlying dopaminergic circuitry. The lesion models reveal intricate interactions between dopaminergic and serotonergic systems in controlling different facets of the ADHD syndrome (Winstanley et al., 2006).

Neonatal lesion models may have more promise for revealing developmental impairments in self-control. 6-OHDA lesions of PFC dopamine pathways result in transient hyperactivity that responds to stimulant drugs. Rats with these lesions also showed a decrease in the number of D2 autoreceptors and in DAT, increased sensitivity of post-synaptic D1 receptors and an increase in D4 receptors. Operant and spatial learning deficits were also reversible by stimulant drugs, but show less resemblance to the ADHD syndrome than do tests of impulsivity (reviewed in Davids et al., 2003). Future studies should validate the neonatal lesion model by investigating effects on reward discounting and the 5-CSRT tasks.

4.3.9.2. An animal model for ADHD—the spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR). The spontaneously hypertensive rat is commonly portrayed as a valid genetic model for ADHD, as it expresses to some extent hyperactivity, attention deficit and impulsivity, the three main symptoms of ADHD (Adriani et al., 2003; Sagvolden, 2000). The SHR strain has been extensively tested with respect to locomotor activity, sensitivity to delayed rewards, vigilance and impulsivity, using the 5-CSRT test. Analysis of the dopamine circuitry in this strain supports the construct validity of this model. SHR rats were reported to have less dopamine release, impaired vesicular storage of dopamine and increased number of D1/D5 receptors with lower affinity. Male SHR rats have five-fold greater turnover of D1 and D2 receptors in basal ganglia and limbic terminal areas compared to females (Sagvolden and Sergeant, 1998). Higher extra-

cellular DA was found in the shell of the NAC, whereas lower levels were found in the striatum. Developmental studies revealed lower tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA expression in the striata of SHR rats in early postnatal development and lower DAT mRNA and DAT function in the postweanling stage (Leo et al., 2003). In addition, SHR rats have small brain volumes in the PFC, occipital lobe and hippocampus (Russell et al., 2005). The above pharmacological and behavioral findings suggested that the SHR strain would be a useful model for revealing the neural mechanisms of attention deficits. However, the validity of the model has been challenged by several findings.

One of the prevailing criticisms of the SHR model is that it is usually compared to the WKY (Wister-Kyoto) strain, a strain with abnormally low activity levels, which is considered to be an animal model of depression (Braw et al., 2006). When compared to Wistar rats, SHR rats do not consistently show increased activity (van den Bergh et al., 2006). Moreover, the alleged hyperactivity is not reduced by psychostimulants, reducing its predictive validity (van den Bergh et al., 2006). Examination of operant behavior only partially supports the SHR model of ADHD. SHR rats were found to have more inappropriate responding on DRL, during extinction, and in high FI (fixed interval) ratios (Sagvolden et al., 1992; van den Bergh et al., 2006), suggestive of impulsive behavior. However, psychostimulants did not reduce responding or increase the number of rewards obtained in the DRL, although there was a trend to a reduction in burst responding with methylphenidate.

Reward discounting was tested indirectly by comparing performance on two FI schedules using the matching law. Comparing performance on FI 60 and FI 120 schedules, SHR rats had a higher rate of responding but maintained a steeper FI scallop than WKY rats even after treatment with psychostimulants (Sagvolden et al., 1992). In contrast, the shape of the scallop in the WKY rats was disrupted by amphetamine and methylphenidate, leading to responses being equally distributed throughout the FI interval. The slope of the FI scallop was interpreted by Sagvolden et al. (1992) as representing the reinforcement decay gradient; however, in a recent study, a high rate of pressing in the FI interval was found to be unrelated to reward discounting (Dellu-Hagedorn, 2006). The flat scallop in the WKY strain following treatment with psychostimulants may reflect stereotyped responding or disrupted timing. Moreover, a shorter reinforcement decay gradient, as posited by Sagvolden, would be expected to result in faster extinction in SHR rats. In fact, the SHR strain showed slower extinction compared to the WKY strain. Dellu-Hagedorn (2006) found that high rates of bar-pressing during extinction were associated with more errors on a spatial working memory task but not with the reward discounting gradient.

In another study, the temporal discounting curves of SHR and WKY rats were identical. A median split of each group yielded differences only in the SHR strain, creating one subgroup with a stable preference for the large delayed reward and another subgroup with a steep discounting curve showing a switch to the small reward with increasing delays (Adriani et al., 2003). Although the finding that half the rats consistently preferred the large *delayed* reward to the immediate reward is inconsistent with the assertion that these rats have a steep reward decay gradient, the subgroup that was sensitive to delay did show a steeper reward decay gradient than the parallel WKY group. This subgroup also had lower 5-HT turnover, and lower NE levels and lower cannibinoid 1 receptor binding in the medial frontal cortex than the non-impulsive group, with no change in dopamine. In another operant conditioning task, the decay gradient, K, of SHR rats was not different than that of the control WKY rats, even though the SHR rats showed more sensitivity to the immediate reward (Johansen et al., 2005). To conclude, SHR rats do not consistently show a steep reward gradient or impulsive behavior; however, a subgroup of SHR rats shows that these traits may be associated with neurochemical changes in the PFC.

In a modified version of the 5-CSRT test, SHR rats did not have longer acquisition times or more impulsivity than Wistar rats, suggesting that they do not have an attention deficit. Moreover, methylphenidate affected anticipatory responding in Wistar, but not SHR rats (van den Bergh et al., 2006). In conclusion, SHR performance in the 5-CSRT test, reward discounting and open field paradigms fundamentally challenges the view that SHR rats exhibit an impulsive and inattentive behavior profile. In support of the SHR model, they did exhibit a methylphenidate-reversible impulsive pattern of behavior on the DRL test.

4.3.10. Genetic models of ADHD in mice

While the genetic basis for self-control is not known, it has been established that heredity makes a significant contribution to disorders of self-control, such as ADHD. The 7-allele variant of the gene encoding the D4 receptor has been linked to novelty seeking in adults (Ebstein et al., 1996) and impaired emotional regulation in infants (Auerbach et al., 1999). D4 antagonists alleviate ADHD symptoms and D4 receptor changes were found to contribute to the hyperactivity seen in juvenile mice following neonatal forebrain 6-OHDA lesions (Davids et al., 2003). The *Dat1* gene, coding for the DAT, was found to distinguish SHR from WKY mice (Mill et al., 2005). In parallel, certain polymorphisms of the gene are more common in children with ADHD (Gill et al., 1997).

How accurately do genetic models in mice portray selfcontrol deficits in children? While it is beyond the scope of this article to describe genetic models, recent reviews have examined this issue comprehensively (Davids et al., 2003; Viggiano et al., 2003). Knock out (KO) and transgenic mice often have different phenotypes on different genetic backgrounds, and may have stunted growth or impaired sensorimotor functions that are not characteristic of the syndrome in children. DAT-KO mice are hyperactive in a novel environment, but also show stunted growth, skeletal abnormalities and pituitary hypoplasia that are not characteristic of ADHD (Madras et al., 2005). The hyperactivity is reversed by the psychostimulants amphetamine, cocaine and methylphenidate, and by specific serotonin reuptake blockers, but not by specific noradrenergic transport blockers (Gainetdinov et al., 1999). In parallel, children with ADHD are successfully treated with psychostimulants, but also with the specific NET inhibitor atomoxetine (Spencer and Biederman, 2002). The DAT-KO mice also had deficits in spatial working memory and more perseverative errors (Gainetdinov et al., 1999), which is analogous to spatial working memory deficits reported in children with ADHD (Willcutt et al., 2005). Paradigms such as reward discounting, and the 5-CSRT task have not been tested in DAT-KO mice, or in fact, in any of the other dopaminerelated genetic deletions. The reward discounting paradigm has been adapted effectively to mice. The degree of impulsive choice was positively correlated with activity (Isles et al., 2004). Moreover, amphetamine had a biphasic effect on impulsivity, reducing preference for small rewards at low doses and increasing small reward preference at high doses (Isles et al., 2003). Future research should extend the phenotype mapping of genetic models of ADHD to include the self-control paradigms developed in rats. Viggiano et al. (2003) reviewed the effects of deletions of DA receptors, D1-D5, most of which result in reduced exploratory activity. One might, therefore, expect a different pattern of self-control deficits in these genotypes, perhaps leading to a distinction between "inattentive" and "hyperactive" sub-types. Another area that remains to be explored more carefully is the interaction of anxiety with self-control. Sustained attention deficits have been reported in mice with genetic alterations of neuropeptide Y Y2 receptors (Greco and Carli, 2006) and glucocorticoid receptors (Steckler et al., 2000), both of which are involved in regulating emotional behavior.

In summary, emotional and cognitive self-control deficits represent a wide range of behaviors that can be simulated in sophisticated operant conditioning procedures. Fastidious neuropharmacological analysis of a single paradigm that yields multiple dependent variables is one approach that has led to a greater understanding of the different components of the 5-CSRT task (Robbins, 2002). It is equally important to compare different paradigms in a single laboratory in order to better delineate how different behavioral patterns are related to one another (Dellu-Hagedorn, 2006; van den Bergh et al., 2006). The genetic pieces of the puzzle have yet to fall into place, but promising mutation models will provide further insight into the neural basis of self-control.

5. Final words

In this paper we have focused on the development of selfregulation, tracing its roots to the mutual influence of innate temperament on the one hand, and caregiver influences at early stages of life on the other. Specifically, we focused on the key role of attention in the development of self-regulation. Neurobiological studies emphasize the interactions of prefrontal monoamine systems in regulating sustained attention and impulsive behavior, which is consistent with current medical treatment of attention deficits. An intriguing question for future research is how medication and attentional training can interact to improve self-regulation. There is some initial evidence that attentional training is beneficial in typicallydeveloping preschoolers (Posner and Rothbart, 2007; Rueda et al., 2005a,b) and in people who suffered a brain injury affecting their attention (Sohlberg and Mateer, 1987, 2001). There are also reports of some preliminary findings in a double-blind placebo-controlled study of attention training with ADHD children (deBeus et al., 2004). There is also some evidence for the efficacy of training programs within educational settings, designed to promote emotional self-regulation, which focus on social skills, aggression control and conflict management, such as the PATHS (Bierman and Erath, 2004; Kam et al., 2004; Riggs et al., 2006) and the "Tools of the Mind" (Diamond et al., 2007) intervention programs.

Furthermore, consistently with what was presented above in the section about effects of parenting strategies and styles, there is recent evidence concerning impressive efficacy of interventions based on the training of parents, on the attentional skills of their children (Neville, 2007). Although it is still too early to conclude whether it is feasible to foster self-regulation by means of attention training, this is certainly an interesting and provocative possibility that deserves further exploration.

Acknowledgment

The authors wish to thank Dr. Adele Diamond and three anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments on an earlier version of this manuscript; and Desiree Meloul for her kind and always efficient help.

References

- Adriani, W., Caprioli, A., Granstrem, O., Carli, M., Laviola, G., 2003. The spontaneously hypertensive-rat as an animal model of ADHD: evidence for impulsive and non-impulsive subpopulations. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 27 (7), 639–651.
- Ainsworth, M.D., Blehar, M., Waters, E., Wall, S., 1978. Patterns of Attachment. Lawrence Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ.
- Alexander, G.E., Crutcher, M.D., DeLong, M.R., 1990. Basal ganglia-thalamocortical circuits: parallel substrates for motor, oculomotor, "prefrontal" and "limbic" functions. In: Uylings, H.B.M., Eden, C.G.V., Bruin, J.P.C.D., Corner, M.A., Feenstra, M.G.P. (Eds.), The Prefrontal Cortex. Its Structure, Function and Pathology, vol. 85. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 119–146.
- American Psychiatric Association, 1994. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders DSM-IV, fourth ed. American Psychiatric Press, Washington, DC.
- Anderson, I.M., Richell, R.A., Bradshaw, C.M., 2003. The effect of acute tryptophan depletion on probabilistic choice. J. Psychopharmacol. 17 (1), 3–7.
- Auerbach, J., Geller, V., Lezer, S., Shinwell, E., Belmaker, R.H., Levine, J., et al., 1999. Dopamine D4 receptor (D4DR) and serotonin transporter promoter (5-HTTLPR) polymorphisms in the determination of temperament in 2-month-old infants. Mol. Psychiatry 4 (4), 369–373.
- Aylward, E.H., Reiss, A.L., Reader, M.J., Singer, H.S., Brown, J.E., Denckla, M.B., 1996. Basal ganglia volumes in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J. Child Neurol. 11 (2), 112–115.
- Barbelivien, A., Ruotsalainen, S., Sirvio, J., 2001. Metabolic alterations in the prefrontal and cingulate cortices are related to behavioral deficits in a rodent model of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Cereb. Cortex 11 (11), 1056–1063.
- Barkley, R., 1981. Hyperactive Children: A Handbook for Diagnosis and Treatment. Guilford, New York.

- Barkley, R.A., 1990. A critique of current diagnostic criteria for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: clinical and research implications. J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr. 11 (6), 343–352.
- Barkley, R.A., 1997. Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions: constructing a unifying theory of ADHD. Psychol. Bull. 121 (1), 65–94.
- Barkley, R.A., Edwards, G., Laneri, M., Fletcher, K., Metevia, L., 2001. Executive functioning, temporal discounting, and sense of time in adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and oppositional defiant disorder (ODD). J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 29 (6), 541–556.
- Barkley, R.A., Fischer, M., Edelbrock, C.S., Smallish, L., 1990. The adolescent outcome of hyperactive children diagnosed by research criteria. I. An 8-year prospective follow-up study. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 29 (4), 546–557.
- Barkley, R.A., Guevremont, D.C., Anastopoulos, A.D., DuPaul, G.J., Shelton, T.L., 1993. Driving-related risks and outcomes of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in adolescents and young adults: a 3- to 5-year follow-up survey. Pediatrics 92 (2), 212–218.
- Barkley, R.A., Murphy, K.R., Kwasnik, D., 1996. Motor vehicle driving competencies and risks in teens and young adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Pediatrics 98 (6 Pt 1), 1089–1095.
- Bates, J.E., 1989. Concepts and measures of temperament. In: Kohnstamm, G.A., Bates, J.E., Rothbart, M.K. (Eds.), Temperament in Childhood. John Wiley and Sons, Oxford, pp. 3–26.
- Baumrind, D., 1972. The development of instrumental competence through socialization. In: Pick, A.D. (Ed.), Minnesota Symposia on Child Psychology. U. Minnesota Press, Oxford, England, pp. 3–46.
- Baumrind, D., 1991a. Effective parenting during the early adolescent transition. In: Hetherington, E.M., Cowan, P.A. (Eds.), Family Transitions, vol. 2. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, NJ, pp. 111–163.
- Baumrind, D., 1991b. The influence of parenting style on adolescent competence and substance use. J. Early Adolesc. 11 (1), 56–95.
- Baumrind, D., 1991c. Parenting styles and adolescent development. In: Lerner, R.M., Petersen, A.C., Brooks-Gunn, J. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Adolescence. Garland, New York, pp. 746–758.
- Baumrind, D., Black, A.E., 1967. Socialization practices associated with dimensions of competence in preschool boys and girls. Child Dev. 38 (2), 291–327.
- Beiswenger, H., 1968. Luria's model of the verbal control of behavior. Merrill-Palmer-Q. 14 (4), 267–284.
- Bell, M.A., Fox, N.A., 1994. Brain development over the 1st year of life: relations between electroencephalographic frequency and coherence and cognitive and affective behaviors. In: Dawson, G., Fischer, K.W. (Eds.), Human Behavior and the Developing Brain. Guilford, New York, pp. 314–345.
- Bell, M.A., Wolfe, C.D., 2004. Emotion and cognition: an intricately bound developmental process. Child Dev. 75 (2), 366–370.
- Benes, F.M., Taylor, J.B., Cunningham, M.C., 2000. Convergence and plasticity of monoaminergic systems in the medial prefrontal cortex during the postnatal period: implications for the development of psychopathology. Cereb. Cortex 10, 1014–1027.
- Berger, A., Neuman-Ashkenazi, K., Sarig Shmuely, A., Landau, R., Aztaba-Poria, N., Arbelle, S., Auerbach, J.G. Vigilance in one-year-old infants at familial risk for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, submitted for publication.
- Berger, A., Posner, M.I., 2000. Pathologies of brain attentional networks. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24 (1), 3–5.
- Berger, A., Tzur, G., Posner, M.I., 2006. Infant brains detect arithmetic errors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103 (33), 12649–12653.
- Berk, L.E., Winsler, A., 1995. Scaffolding Children's Learning: Vygotsky and Early Childhood Education. National Association for the Education of Young Children, Washington, DC.
- Biederman, J., Faraone, S.V., 2005. Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Lancet 366 (9481), 237–248.
- Biederman, J., Faraone, S.V., Keenan, K., Benjamin, J., Krifcher, B., Moore, C., et al., 1992. Further evidence for family-genetic risk factors in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Patterns of comorbidity in probands and

relatives psychiatrically and pediatrically referred samples. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 49 (9), 728–738.

- Biederman, J., Faraone, S.V., Mick, E., Spencer, T., Wilens, T., Kiely, K., et al., 1995. High risk for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder among children of parents with childhood onset of the disorder: a pilot study. Am. J. Psychiatry 152 (3), 431–435.
- Bierman, K.L., Erath, S.A., 2004. Prevention and intervention programs promoting positive peer relations in early childhood. In: Tremblay, R.E., Barr, R.G., Peters R.DeV. (Eds.), Encyclopedia on Early Childhood Development. Available online: http://www.excellence-earlychildhood.ca/ documents/Bierman-ErathANGxp.pdf.
- Botvinick, M.M., Braver, T.S., Barch, D.M., Carter, C.S., Cohen, J.D., 2001. Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. Psychol. Rev. 108 (3), 624–652.
- Bowlby, J., 1973. Separation: Anxiety and Anger, vol. 2. Basic Books, New York.
- Bowlby, J., 1980. Loss: Sadness and Depression, vol. 3. Basic Books, New York.
- Braaten, E.B., Rosen, L.A., 2000. Self-regulation of affect in attention deficithyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and non-ADHD boys: differences in empathic responding. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 68 (2), 313–321.
- Braw, Y., Malkesman, O., Dagan, M., Bercovich, A., Lavi-Avnon, Y., Schroeder, M., et al., 2006. Anxiety-like behaviors in pre-pubertal rats of the Flinders Sensitive Line (FSL) and Wistar-Kyoto (WKY) animal models of depression. Behav. Brain Res. 167 (2), 261–269.
- Breton, J.J., Bergeron, L., Valla, J.P., Berthiaume, C., Gaudet, N., Lambert, J., et al., 1999. Quebec child mental health survey: prevalence of DSM-III-R mental health disorders. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines 40 (3), 375–384.
- Bronson, M.B., 2000. Self-Regulation in Early Childhood: Nature and Nurture. Guildford Press, New York.
- Bunge, S.A., 2004. How we use rules to select actions: a review of evidence from cognitive neuroscience. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 4, 564– 579.
- Bunge, S.A., Dudukovic, N.M., Thomason, M.E., Vaidya, C.J., Gabrieli, J.D., 2002a. Immature frontal lobe contributions to cognitive control in children: evidence from fMRI. Neuron 33 (2), 301–311.
- Bunge, S.A., Hazeltine, E., Scanlon, M.D., Rosen, A.C., Gabrieli, J.D., 2002b. Dissociable contributions of prefrontal and parietal cortices to response selection. NeuroImage 17, 1562–1571.
- Bunge, S.A., Ochsner, K.N., Desmond, J.E., Glover, G.H., Gabrieli, J.D., 2001. Prefrontal regions involved in keeping information in and out of mind. Brain 124, 2074–2086.
- Bush, G., Frazier, J.A., Rauch, S.L., Seidman, L.J., Whalen, P.J., Jenike, M.A., et al., 1999. Anterior cingulate cortex dysfunction in attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder revealed by fMRI and the Counting Stroop. Biol. Psychiatry 45 (12), 1542–1552.
- Bush, G., Luu, P., Posner, M.I., 2000. Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. Trends Cogn. Sciences 4 (6), 215–222.
- Buss, A.H., Plomin, R., 1984. Temperament: Early Developing Personality Traits. Lawrence Erlbaum Assoc Inc, Hillsdale, NJ.
- Caldji, C., Diorio, J., Meaney, M.J., 2000. Variations in maternal care in infancy regulate the development of stress reactivity. Biol. Psychiatry 48 (12), 1164–1174.
- Calkins, S.D., Dedmon, S.E., 2000. Physiological and behavioral regulation in two-year-old children with aggressive/destructive behavior problems. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 28 (2), 103–118.
- Calkins, S.D., Fox, N.A., Marshall, T.R., 1996. Behavioral and physiological antecedents of inhibited and uninhibited behavior. Child Dev. 67 (2), 523–540.
- Calkins, S.D., Johnson, M.C., 1998. Toddler regulation of distress to frustrating events: temperamental and maternal correlates. Infant Behav. Dev. 21 (3), 379–395.
- Cardinal, R.N., Pennicott, D.R., Sugathapala, C.L., Robbins, T.W., Everitt, B.J., 2001. Impulsive choice induced in rats by lesions of the nucleus accumbens core. Science 292 (5526), 2499–2501.
- Carlson, S.M., 1997. Individual differences in inhibitory control and children's theory of mind. Unpublished Doctor of Philosophy, University of Oregon, Eugene.

- Carlson, S.M., 2005. Developmentally sensitive measures of executive function in preschool children. Dev. Neuropsychol. 28, 595–616.
- Carlson, S.M., Mandell, D.J., Williams, L., 2004. Executive function and theory of mind: stability and prediction from age 2–3. Dev. Psychol. 40, 1105– 1122.
- Carlson, S.M., Moses, L.J., 2001. Individual differences in inhibitory control and children's theory of mind. Child Dev. 72 (4), 1032–1053.
- Carmona, S., Vilarroya, O., Bielsa, A., Tremols, V., Soliva, J.C., Rovira, M., et al., 2005. Global and regional gray matter reductions in ADHD: a voxelbased morphometric study. Neurosci. Lett. 389 (2), 88–93.
- Casey, B.J., 2001. Disruption of inhibitory control in developmental disorders: a mechanistic model of implicated frontostriatal circuitry. In: McClelland, J.L., Siegler, R.S. (Eds.), Mechanisms of Cognitive Development: Behavioral and Neural Perspectives. The Carnegie Symposium on Cognition. Erlbaum Associates, Inc., Mahwah, NJ.
- Casey, B.J., Trainor, R., Giedd, J., Vauss, Y., Vaituzis, C.K., Hamburger, S., et al., 1997. The role of the anterior cingulate in automatic and controlled processes: a developmental neuroanatomical study. Dev. Psychobiol. 30 (1), 61–69.
- Caspi, A., Henry, B., McGee, R.O., Moffitt, T.E., Silva, P.A., 1995. Temperamental origins of child and adolescent behavior problems: from age three to age fifteen. Child Dev. 66 (1), 55–68.
- Castellanos, F.X., Giedd, J.N., Eckburg, P., Marsh, W.L., Vaituzis, A.C., Kaysen, D., et al., 1994. Quantitative morphology of the caudate nucleus in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 151 (12), 1791– 1796.
- Chae, P.K., Jung, H.O., Noh, K.S., 2001. Attention deficit hyperactivty disorder in Korean juvenile delinquents. Adolescence 36 (144), 707–725.
- Chudasama, Y., Passetti, F., Rhodes, S.E., Lopian, D., Desai, A., Robbins, T.W., 2003. Dissociable aspects of performance on the 5-choice serial reaction time task following lesions of the dorsal anterior cingulate, infralimbic and orbitofrontal cortex in the rat: differential effects on selectivity, impulsivity and compulsivity. Behav. Brain Res. 146 (1–2), 105–119.
- Chugani, H.T., Phelps, M.E., 1986. Maturational changes in cerebral function in infants determined by 18FDG positron emission tomography. Science 231 (4740), 840–843.
- Clohessy, A.B., Posner, M.I., Rothbart, M.K., 2001. Development of the functional visual field. Acta Psychol. (Amst.) 106 (1–2), 51–68.
- Cohen, A., Shoup, R., 1997. Perceptual dimensional constraints on response selection processes. Cognit. Psychol. 32, 128–181.
- Cook Jr., E.H., Stein, M.A., Krasowski, M.D., Cox, N.J., Olkon, D.M., Kieffer, J.E., et al., 1995. Association of attention-deficit disorder and the dopamine transporter gene. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 56 (4), 993–998.
- Corbetta, M., Kincade, J.M., Ollinger, J.M., McAvoy, M.P., Shulman, G.L., 2000. Voluntary orienting is dissociated from target detection in human posterior parietal cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 3 (3), 292–297.
- Crean, J., Richards, J.B., de Wit, H., 2002. Effect of tryptophan depletion on impulsive behavior in men with or without a family history of alcoholism. Behav. Brain Res. 136 (2), 349–357.
- Crone, E.A., Jennings, J.R., van der Molen, M.W., 2003. Sensitivity to interference and response contingencies in attention-deficit/hyperactive disorder. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 44 (2), 214–226.
- Crottaz-Herbette, S., Menon, V., 2006. Where and when the anterior cingulate cortex modulates attentional response: combined fMRI and ERP evidence. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 18 (5), 766–780.
- Cunningham, C.E., Barkley, R.A., 1979. The interactions of normal and hyperactive children with their mothers in free play and structured tasks. Child Dev. 50 (1), 217–224.
- Dalley, J.W., Theobald, D.E., Eagle, D.M., Passetti, F., Robbins, T.W., 2002a. Deficits in impulse control associated with tonically-elevated serotonergic function in rat prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 26 (6), 716– 728.
- Dalley, J.W., Theobald, D.E., Pereira, E.A., Li, P.M., Robbins, T.W., 2002b. Specific abnormalities in serotonin release in the prefrontal cortex of isolation-reared rats measured during behavioural performance of a task assessing visuospatial attention and impulsivity. Psychopharmacology 164 (3), 329–340.

- Damasio, A.R., Anderson, S.W., 2003. The frontal lobes. In: Heilman, K.M., Valenstein, E. (Eds.), Clinical Neuropsychology. fourth ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 404–446.
- Davids, E., Zhang, K., Tarazi, F.I., Baldessarini, R.J., 2003. Animal models of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Brain Res. Rev. 42 (1), 1–21.
- Davidson, M.C., Amso, D., Anderson, L.C., Diamond, A., 2006. Development of cognitive control and executive functions from 4 to 13 years: evidence from manipulations of memory, inhibition, and task switching. Neuropsychologia 44, 2037–2078.
- Davidson, M.C., Marrocco, R.T., 2000. Local infusion of scopolamine into intraparietal cortex slows covert orienting in rhesus monkeys. J. Neurophysiol. 83 (3), 1536–1549.
- Dawson, G., 1994. Frontal electroencephalographic correlates of individual differences in emotion expression in infants: a brain systems perspective on emotion. Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev. 59 (2–3), 135–151.
- deBeus, R., Ball, J.D., deBeus, M.E., Herrington, R., 2004. Attention training with ADHD children: preliminary findings in a double-blind placebocontrolled study. J. Neurotherapy 8 (2), 145–147.
- Dellu-Hagedorn, F., 2006. Relationship between impulsivity, hyperactivity and working memory: a differential analysis in the rat. Behav. Brain Funct. 2, 10.
- Denham, S.A., 1998. Emotional Development in Young Children. Guilford Press, New York.
- Denham, S.A., Blair, K.A., DeMulder, E., Levitas, J., Sawyer, K., Auerbach-Major, S., et al., 2003. Preschool emotional competence: pathway to social competence? Child Dev. 74 (1), 238–256.
- Diamond, A., 1991. Neuropsychological insights into the meaning of object concept development. In: Carey, S., Gelman, R. (Eds.), The Epigenesis of Mind: Essays on Biology and Cognition. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, NJ, pp. 67–110.
- Diamond, A., 2002. Normal development of prefrontal cortex from birth to young adulthood: cognitive functions, anatomy, and biochemistry. In: Stuss, D.T., Knight, R.T. (Eds.), Principles of Frontal Lobe Function. Oxford University Press, London, UK, pp. 466–503.
- Diamond, A., 2005. Attention-deficit disorder (attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder without hyperactivity): a neurobiologically and behaviorally distinct disorder from attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (with hyperactivity). Dev. Psychopathol. 17, 807–825.
- Diamond, A., 2006. Bootstrapping conceptual deduction using physical connection: rethinking frontal cortex. Trends Cogn. Sci. 10 (5), 212–218.
- Diamond, A., Carlson, S.M., Beck, D.M., 2005. Preschool children's performance in task switching on the Dimensional Change Card Sort Task: separating the dimensions aids the ability to switch. Dev. Neuropsychol. 28, 689–729.
- Diamond, A., Leong, D.J., Bodrova, E., March 2007. Helping children become masters of their own behavior: a preschool curriculum that improves executive functions. In: Paper presented at the Biennial Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Boston, MA, USA.
- Diamond, A., Prevor, M.B., Callender, G., Druin, D.P., 1997. Prefrontal cortex cognitive deficits in children treated early and continuously for PKU. Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev. 62 (4), 1–205.
- Diamond, A., Taylor, C., 1996. Development of an aspect of executive control: development of the abilities to remember what I said and to "do as I say, not as I do". Dev. Psychobiol. 29 (4), 315–334.
- Diamond, A., Werker, J.F., Lalonde, C.E., 1994. Toward understanding commonalities in the development of object search, detour navigation, categorization, and speech perception. In: Dawson, G., Fischer, K.W. (Eds.), Human Behavior and the Developing Brain. Guilford, New York, pp. 380–426.
- Diamond, M.C., Krech, D., Rosenzweig, M.R., 1964. The effects of an enriched environment on the histology of the rat cerebral cortex. J. Comparative Neurol. 123, 111–120.
- Diamond, M.C., Law, F., Rhodes, H., Lindner, B., Rosenzweig, M.R., Krech, D., et al., 1966. Increases in cortical depth and glia numbers in rats subjected to enriched environment. J. Comp. Neurol. 128 (1), 117–126.
- Dimoska, A., Johnstone, S.J., Barry, R.J., Clarke, A.R., 2003. Inhibitory motor control in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: event-

related potentials in the stop-signal paradigm. Biol. Psychiatry 54 (12), 1345–1354.

- Douglas, V.I., 1972. Stop, look and listen: the problem of sustained attention and impluse control in hyperactive and normal children. Can. J. Behav. Sci. 4 (4), 259–281.
- Douglas, V.I., 1983. Attentional and cognitive problems. In: Rutter, M. (Ed.), Developmental Neuropsychiatry. Guildford, New York, pp. 280–329.
- Douglas, V.I., 1985. The response of ADD children to reinforcement: theoretical and clinical implications. In: Bloomingdale, L.M. (Ed.), Attention Deficit Disorder: Identification, Course and Rationale. Spectrum, Jamaica, NY, pp. 49–66.
- Douglas, V.I., Parry, P.A., 1994. Effects of reward and nonreward on frustration and attention in attention deficit disorder. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 22 (3), 281–302.
- Duncan, J., Seitz, R.J., Kolodny, J., Bor, D., Herzog, H., Ahmed, A., et al., 2000. A neural basis for general intelligence. Science 289 (5478), 457–460.
- Durig, J., Hornung, J.-P., 2000. Neonatal serotonin depletion affects developing and mature mouse cortical neurons. NeuroReport 11, 833–837.
- Durston, S., Casey, B.J., 2006. What have we learned about cognitive development from neuroimaging? Neuropsychologia 44 (11), 2149–2157.
- Durston, S., Thomas, K.M., Yang, Y.H., Ulug, A.M., Zimmerman, R.D., Casey, B.J., 2002. A neural basis for the development of inhibitory control. Dev. Sci. 5 (4), 9–16.
- Durston, S., Tottenham, N.T., Thomas, K.M., Davidson, M.C., Eigsti, I.M., Yang, Y., et al., 2003. Differential patterns of striatal activation in young children with and without ADHD. Biol. Psychiatry 53, 871–878.
- Eaton, W.O., Enns, L.R., 1986. Sex differences in human motor activity level. Psychol. Bull. 100 (1), 19–28.
- Ebstein, R.P., Novick, O., Umansky, R., Priel, B., Osher, Y., Blaine, D., et al., 1996. Dopamine D4 receptor (D4DR) exon III polymorphism associated with the human personality trait of Novelty Seeking. Nat. Genet. 12 (1), 78–80.
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A., Spinrad, T.L., Fabes, R.A., Shepard, S.A., Reiser, M., et al., 2001. The relations of regulation and emotionality to children's externalizing and internalizing problem behavior. Child Dev. 72 (4), 1112–1134.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., Bernzweig, J., Karbon, M., Poulin, R., Hanish, L., 1993. The relations of emotionality and regulation to preschoolers' social skills and sociometric status. Child Dev. 64 (5), 1418–1438.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., Guthrie, I.K., Murphy, B.C., Maszk, P., Holmgren, R., et al., 1996. The relations of regulation and emotionality to problem behavior in elementary school children. Dev. Psychopathol 8 (1), 141–162.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., Guthrie, I.K., Reiser, M., 2000. Dispositional emotionality and regulation: their role in predicting quality of social functioning. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 78 (1), 136–157.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., Murphy, B., Karbon, M., Maszk, P., Smith, M., et al., 1994. The relations of emotionality and regulation to dispositional and situational empathy-related responding. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 66 (4), 776–797.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., Murphy, B., Maszk, P., Smith, M., Karbon, M., 1995. The role of emotionality and regulation in children's social functioning: a longitudinal study. Child Dev. 66 (5), 1360–1384.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., Shepard, S.A., Murphy, B.C., Guthrie, I.K., Jones, S., et al., 1997. Contemporaneous and longitudinal prediction of children's social functioning from regulation and emotionality. Child Dev. 68 (4), 642– 664.
- Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T.L., 2004. Emotion-related regulation: sharpening the definition. Child Dev. 75 (2), 334–339.
- Epstein, J.N., Goldberg, N.A., Conners, C.K., March, J.S., 1997. The effects of anxiety on continuous performance test functioning in an ADHD clinic sample. J. Atten. Disord. 2, 45–52.
- Eriksen, B.A., Eriksen, C.W., 1974. Effect of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a non-search task. Percept & Psychophys 16, 43–49.
- Ernst, M., Zametkin, A.J., Matochik, J.A., Pascualvaca, D., Jons, P.H., Cohen, R.M., 1999. High midbrain [18F]DOPA accumulation in children with

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 156, 1209–1215.

- Espy, K.A., Bull, R., 2005. Inhibitory processes in young children and individual variation in short-term memory. Dev. Neuropsychol. 28, 669–688.
- Etkin, A., Egner, T., Peraza, D.M., Kandel, E.R., Hirsch, J., 2006. Resolving emotional conflict: a role for the rostral anterior cingulate cortex in modulating activity in the amygdala. Neuron 51, 871–882.
- Evenden, J., Ko, T., 2005. The psychopharmacology of impulsive behaviour in rats VIII: effects of amphetamine, methylphenidate, and other drugs on responding maintained by a fixed consecutive number avoidance schedule. Psychopharmacology 180 (2), 294–305.
- Evenden, J.L., 1999. Varieties of impulsivity. Psychopharmacology 146 (4), 348–361.
- Fan, J., Wu, Y., Fossella, J.A., Posner, M.I., 2001. Assessing the heritability of attentional networks. BioMed Cent. Neurosci. 2, 14.
- Faraone, S.V., Biederman, J., 1998. Neurobiology of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 44 (10), 951–958.
- Feingold, A., 1994. Gender differences in personality: a meta-analysis. Psychol. Bull. 116 (3), 429–456.
- Feldman, R., Greenbaum, C.W., Yirmiya, N., 1999. Mother-infant affect synchrony as an antecedent of the emergence of self-control. Dev. Psychol. 35 (1), 223–231.
- Feldman, R., Klein, P.S., 2003. Toddlers' self-regulated compliance with mother, caregiver, and father: implications for theories of socialization. Dev. Psychol. 39, 680–692.
- Fellows, L.K., Farah, M.J., 2005. Is anterior cingulate cortex necessary for cognitive control? Brain 128, 788–796.
- Filipek, P.A., Semrud-Clikeman, M., Steingard, R.J., Renshaw, P.F., Kennedy, D.N., Biederman, J., 1997. Volumetric MRI analysis comparing subjects having attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder with normal controls. Neurology 48 (3), 589–601.
- Fonagy, P., Target, M., 2002. Early intervention and the development of selfregulation. Psychoanalytic Inquiry 22 (3), 307–335.
- Fox, N.A., 1994. Dynamic cerebral process underlying emotion regulation. In: Fox, N.A. (Ed.), Emotion Regulation: Behavioral and Biological Considerations (Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development). University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Fox, N.A., Calkins, S.D., 2003. The development of self-control of emotion: intrinsic and extrinsic influences. Motiv. Emot. 27 (1), 7–26.
- Fox, N.A., Calkins, S.D., Bell, M.A., 1994. Neural plasticity and development in the first two years of life: evidence from cognitive and socio-emotional domains of research. Dev. Psychopathol. 6, 677–696.
- Fox, N.A., Henderson, H.A., Rubin, K.H., Calkins, S.D., Schmidt, L.A., 2001. Continuity and discontinuity of behavioral inhibition and exuberance: psychophysiological and behavioral influences across the first four years of life. Child Dev. 72 (1), 1–21.
- Friedrich, F.J., Egly, R., Rafal, R.D., Beck, D., 1998. Spatial attention deficits in humans: a comparison of superior parietal and temporal-parietal junction lesions. Neuropsychology 12 (2), 193–207.
- Frye, D., Zelazo, P.D., Palfai, T., 1995. Theory of mind and rule-based reasoning. Cogn. Dev. 10, 483–527.
- Gainetdinov, R.R., Wetsel, W.C., Jones, S.R., Levin, E.D., Jaber, M., Caron, M.G., 1999. Role of serotonin in the paradoxical calming effect of psychostimulants on hyperactivity. Science 283 (5400), 397–401.
- Gerardi, G., 1997. Development of executive attention and self-regulation in the third year of life. Unpublished Doctor of Philosophy, University of Oregon, Eugene.
- Gerardi-Caulton, G., 2000. Sensitivity to spatial conflict and the development of self-regulation in children 2436 months of age. Dev. Sci. 3 (4), 397–404.
- Gerstadt, C.L., Hong, Y.J., Diamond, A., 1994. The relationship between cognition and action: performance of children 3 1/2-7 years old on a Stroop-like day-night test. Cognition 53 (2), 129–153.
- Giedd, J.N., Blumenthal, J., Jeffries, N.O., Castellanos, F.X., Liu, H., Zijdenbos, A., et al., 1999. Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. Nat. Neurosci. 2 (10), 861–863.
- Gill, M., Daly, G., Heron, S., Hawi, Z., Fitzgerald, M., 1997. Confirmation of association between attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and a dopamine transporter polymorphism. Mol. Psychiatry 2 (4), 311–313.

- Gilliom, M., Shaw, D.S., Beck, J.E., Schonberg, M.A., Lukon, J.L., 2002. Anger regulation in disadvantaged preschool boys: strategies, antecedents, and the development of self-control. Dev. Psychol. 38 (2), 222–235.
- Goldberg, S., 2000. Attachment and Development. Arnold, London.
- Goldsmith, H.H., Buss, A.H., Plomin, R., Rothbart, M.K., Thomas, A., Chess, S., et al., 1987. Roundtable: what is temperament? Four approaches. Child Dev. 58 (2), 505–529.
- Goldsmith, H.H., Buss, K.A., Lemery, K.S., 1997. Toddler and childhood temperament: expanded content, stronger genetic evidence, new evidence for the importance of environment. Dev. Psychol. 33 (6), 891–905.
- Goldsmith, H.H., Davidson, R.J., 2004. Disambiguating the components of emotion regulation. Child Dev. 75 (2), 361–365.
- Goldsmith, H.H., Rothbart, M.K., 1996. Laboratory Temperament Assessment Battery (prelocomotor version). University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin.
- Goodman, R., Stevenson, J., 1989. A twin study of hyperactivity. Part II. The aetiological role of genes, family relationships and perinatal adversity. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 30 (5), 691–709.
- Greco, B., Carli, M., 2006. Reduced attention and increased impulsivity in mice lacking NPY Y2 receptors: relation to anxiolytic-like phenotype. Behav. Brain Res. 169 (2), 325–334.
- Greengough, W.T., Volkmar, F.R., Juraska, J.M., 1973. Effects of rearing complexity on dendritic branching in frontolateral and temporal cortex of the rat. Exp. Neurol. 41, 371–378.
- Gu, Q., 2002. Neuromodulatory transmitter systems in the cortex and their role in cortical plasticity. Neuroscience 111 (4), 815–835.
- Haber, S.N., 2003. The primate basal ganglia: parallel and integrative networks. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 26, 317–330.
- Hariri, A.R., Bookheimer, S.Y., Mazziotta, J.C., 2000. Modulating emotional responses: effects of a neocortical network on the limbic system. NeuroReport 11, 43–48.
- Harman, C., Rothbart, M.K., Posner, M.I., 1997. Distress and attention interactions in early infancy. Motiv. Emot. 21 (1), 27–43.
- Hebb, D.O., 1947. The effects of early experience on problem solving at maturity. Am. Psychol. 2, 306–307.
- Henik, A., Rafal, R., Rhodes, D., 1994. Endogenously generated and visually guided saccades after lesions of the human frontal eye fields. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 6, 400–411.
- Henik, A., Ro, T., Merrill, D., Rafal, R., Safadi, Z., 1999. Interaction between color and word processing in a flanker task. J. Exp. Psychol.Hum. Percept. Perform. 25, 198–209.
- Hinshaw, S.P., 1987. On the distinction between attentional deficits/hyperactivity and conduct problems/aggression in child psychopathology. Psychol. Bull. 101 (3), 443–463.
- Hinshaw, S.P., 1992. Academic underachievement, attention deficits, and aggression: comorbidity and implications for intervention. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 60 (6), 893–903.
- Hinshaw, S.P., 1994. Attention Deficits and Hyperactivity in Children, vol. 29. Sage Publications, Inc, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Ho, M.Y., Mobini, S., Chiang, T.J., Bradshaw, C.M., Szabadi, E., 1999. Theory and method in the quantitative analysis of "impulsive choice" behaviour: implications for psychopharmacology. Psychopharmacology 146 (4), 362– 372.
- Hofer, M.A., 1995. Hidden regulators: implications for a new understanding of attachment, separation, and loss. In: Goldberg, S., Muir, R., Kerr, J. (Eds.), Attachment Theory: Social, Developmental, and Clinical Perspectives. Analytic Press, Inc., Hillsdale, NJ, pp. 203–230.
- Hofer, M.A., 1996. Multiple regulators of ultrasonic vocalization in the infant rat. Psychoneuroendocrinology 21 (2), 203–217.
- Hohmann, C.F., 2003. A morphogenetic role for acetylcholine in mouse cerebral neocortex. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 27, 351–363.
- Holroyd, C.B., Coles, M.G., 2002. The neural basis of human error processing: reinforcement learning, dopamine, and the error-related negativity. Psychol. Review 109 (4), 679–709.
- Hooks, B.M., Chen, C., 2006. Distinct roles for spontaneous and visual activity in remodeling of the retinogeniculate synapse. Neuron 52, 281–291.
- Hubel, D.H., Wiesel, T.N., 1965. Binocular interaction in striate cortex of kittens reared with artificial squint. J. Neurophysiol. 28 (6), 1041–1059.

- Hughes, C., Ensor, R., 2005. Executive function and theory of mind in 2 year olds: a family affair? Dev. Neuropsychol. 28 (2), 645–668.
- Huttenlocher, P.R., 1994. Synaptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. In: Dawson, G., Fischer, K.W. (Eds.), Human Behavior and the Developing Brain. Guildford Press, New York, pp. 139–151.
- Huttenlocher, P.R., Dabholkar, A.S., 1997. Regional differences in synaptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. J. Comp. Neurol. 387 (2), 167–178.
- Iaboni, F., Douglas, V.I., Ditto, B., 1997. Psychophysiological response of ADHD children to reward and extinction. Psychophysiology 34 (1), 116– 123.
- Isles, A.R., Humby, T., Walters, E., Wilkinson, L.S., 2004. Common genetic effects on variation in impulsivity and activity in mice. J. Neurosci. 24 (30), 6733–6740.
- Isles, A.R., Humby, T., Wilkinson, L.S., 2003. Measuring impulsivity in mice using a novel operant delayed reinforcement task: effects of behavioural manipulations and d-amphetamine. Psychopharmacology 170 (4), 376–382.
- Jacobvitz, D., Sroufe, L.A., 1987. The early caregiver-child relationship and attention-deficit disorder with hyperactivity in kindergarten: a prospective study. Child Dev. 58 (6), 1496–1504.
- Jerger, S., Martin, R.C., Pirozzolo, F.J., 1988. A developmental study of the auditory Stroop effect. Brain and Lang. 35 (1), 86–104.
- Johansen, E.B., Sagvolden, T., Kvande, G., 2005. Effects of delayed reinforcers on the behavior of an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Behav. Brain Res. 162 (1), 47–61.
- Johnson, M.H., 1999. Cognitive science: into the minds of babes. Science 286 (5438), 247.
- Johnson, M.H., 2003. Development of human brain functions. Biol. Psychiatry 54 (12), 1312–1316.
- Johnson, M.H., Posner, M.I., Rothbart, M.K., 1991. Components of visual orienting in early infancy: contingency learning, anticipatory looking and disengaging. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 3, 335–344.
- Jones, L.B., Rothbart, M.K., Posner, M.I., 2003. Development of executive attention in preschool children. Dev. Sci. 6 (5), 498–504.
- Jucaite, A., Fernell, E., Halldin, C., Forssberg, H., Farde, L., 2005. Reduced midbrain dopamine transporter binding in male adolescents with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: association between striatal dopamine markers and motor hyperactivity. Biol. Psychiatry 57, 229– 238.
- Kalenscher, T., Windmann, S., Diekamp, B., Rose, J., Gunturkun, O., Colombo, M., 2005. Single units in the pigeon brain integrate reward amount and time-to-reward in an impulsive choice task. Curr. Biol. 15 (7), 594–602.
- Kaler, S.R., Kopp, C.B., 1990. Compliance and comprehension in very young toddlers. Child Dev. 61, 1997–2003.
- Kam, C.M., Greenberg, M.T., Kusche, C.A., 2004. Sustained Effects of the PATHS Curriculum on the Social and Psychological Adjustment of Children in Special Education. J. Emot. Behav. Disord. 12, 66–78.
- Karnath, H.O., Ferber, S., Himmelbach, M., 2001. Spatial awareness is a function of the temporal not the posterior parietal lobe. Nature 411 (6840), 950–953.
- Kates, W.R., Frederikse, M., Mostofsky, S.H., Folley, B.S., Cooper, K., Mazur-Hopkins, P., et al., 2002. MRI parcellation of the frontal lobe in boys with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder or Tourette syndrome. Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging 116 (1–2), 63–81.
- Katz, L.C., Shatz, C.J., 1996. Synaptic activity and the construction of cortical circuits. Science 274, 1133–1138.
- Kheramin, S., Body, S., Ho, M., Velazquez-Martinez, D.N., Bradshaw, C.M., Szabadi, E., et al., 2003. Role of the orbital prefrontal cortex in choice between delayed and uncertain reinforcers: a quantitative analysis. Behav. Process. 64 (3), 239–250.
- Kheramin, S., Body, S., Ho, M.Y., Velazquez-Martinez, D.N., Bradshaw, C.M., Szabadi, E., et al., 2004. Effects of orbital prefrontal cortex dopamine depletion on inter-temporal choice: a quantitative analysis. Psychopharmacology 175 (2), 206–214.
- Kirkham, N.Z., Cruess, L., Diamond, A., 2003. Helping children apply their knowledge to their behavior on a dimension-switching task. Dev. Sci. 6, 449–467.

- Kochanska, G., 1993. Toward a synthesis of parental socialization and child temperament in early development of conscience. Child Dev. 64, 325–347.
- Kochanska, G., 2001. Emotional development in children with different attachment histories: the first three years. Child Dev. 72 (2), 474–490.
- Kochanska, G., Aksan, N., 1995. Mother-child mutually positive affect, the quality of child compliance to requests and prohibitions, and maternal control as correlates of early internalization. Child Dev. 66, 236–254.
- Kochanska, G., Coy, K.C., Murray, K.T., 2001. The development of selfregulation in the first four years of life. Child Dev. 72 (4), 1091–1111.
- Kochanska, G., Murray, K., Coy, K.C., 1997. Inhibitory control as a contributor to conscience in childhood: from toddler to early school age. Child Dev. 68 (2), 263–277.
- Kochanska, G., Murray, K., Jacques, T.Y., Koenig, A.L., Vandegeest, K.A., 1996. Inhibitory control in young children and its role in emerging internalization. Child Dev. 67 (2), 490–507.
- Kochanska, G., Murray, K.T., Harlan, E.T., 2000. Effortful control in early childhood: continuity and change, antecedents, and implications for social development. Dev. Psychol. 36 (2), 220–232.
- Kochanska, G., Tjebkes, T.L., Forman, D.R., 1998. Children's emerging regulation of conduct: restraint, compliance, and internalization from infancy to the second year. Child Dev. 69 (5), 1378–1389.
- Kolb, B., Gorny, G., Soderpalm, A.H., Robinson, T.E., 2003. Environmental complexity has different effects on the structure of neurons in the prefrontal cortex versus the parietal cortex or nucleus accumbens. Synapse 48 (3), 149–153.
- Kolb, B., Whishaw, I.Q., 2001. Introduction to Brain and Behavior. Worth Publishers, New York.
- Kopp, C.B., 1982. Antecedents of self-regulation: a developmental perspective. Dev. Psychol. 18 (2), 199–214.
- Kopp, C.B., 1989. Regulation of distress and negative emotions: a developmental view. Dev. Psychol. 25 (3), 343–354.
- Kopp, C.B., 1992. Emotional distress and control in young children. In: Fabes, R.A., Eisenberg, N. (Eds.), Emotion and its Regulation in Early Development. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA, pp. 41–56.
- Krain, A.L., Castellanos, F.X., 2006. Brain development and ADHD. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 26 (4), 433–444.
- Kuntsi, J., Oosterlaan, J., Stevenson, J., 2001. Psychological mechanisms in hyperactivity. Part I. Response inhibition deficit, working memory impairment, delay aversion, or something else? J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 42 (2), 199–210.
- LaHoste, G.J., Swanson, J.M., Wigal, S.B., Glabe, C., Wigal, T., King, N., et al., 1996. Dopamine D4 receptor gene polymorphism is associated with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Mol. Psychiatry 1 (2), 121– 124.
- Larsson, J.O., Larsson, H., Lichtenstein, P., 2004. Genetic and environmental contributions to stability and change of ADHD symptoms between 8 and 13 years of age: a longitudinal twin study. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 43 (10), 1267–1275.
- Le Pen, G., Grottick, A.J., Higgins, G.A., Moreau, J.L., 2003. Phencyclidine exacerbates attentional deficits in a neurodevelopmental rat model of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 28 (10), 1799–1809.
- Lemery, K.S., Essex, M.J., Smider, N.A., 2002. Revealing the relation between temperament and behavior problem symptoms by eliminating measurement confounding: expert ratings and factor analyses. Child Dev. 73 (3), 867–882.
- Lengua, L.J., 2002. The contribution of emotionality and self-regulation to the understanding of children's response to multiple risk. Child Dev. 73 (1), 144–161.
- Leo, D., Sorrentino, E., Volpicelli, F., Eyman, M., Greco, D., Viggiano, D., et al., 2003. Altered midbrain dopaminergic neurotransmission during development in an animal model of ADHD. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 27 (7), 661–669.
- Levy, F., Hay, D.A., McStephen, M., Wood, C., Waldman, I., 1997. Attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder: a category or a continuum? Genetic analysis of a large-scale twin study. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 36 (6), 737–744.

- Lewis, M., 1997. The self in self-conscious emotions. In: Snodgrass, J., Thompson, R. (Eds.), The Self Across Psychology: Self-Recognition, Self-Awareness, and the Self-Concept. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 818. New York Academy of Sciences, New York, pp. 119– 142.
- Lewis, M., 1998. The development and structure of emotions. In: Mascolo, M.F., Griffin, S. (Eds.), What Develops in Emotional Development? Plenum Press, New York, pp. 29–50.
- Lewis, M.I., 1992. Shame: The Exposed Self. Free Press, New York, NY.
- Liston, C., Watts, R., Tottenham, N., Davidson, M.C., Niogi, S., Ulug, A.M., et al., 2006. Frontostriatal microstructure modulates efficient recruitment of cognitive control. Cereb. Cortex 16, 553–560.
- Liu, D., Diorio, J., Day, J.C., Francis, D.D., Meaney, M.J., 2000. Maternal care, hippocampal synaptogenesis and cognitive development in rats. Nat. Neurosci. 3 (8), 799–806.
- Loeber, R., 1990. Disruptive and antisocial behavior in childhood and adolescence: development and risk factors. In: Losel, F., Hurrelmann, K. (Eds.), Health Hazards in Adolescence, vol. 8. Walter De Gruyter, Oxford, England, pp. 233–257.
- Lu, L.H., Leonard, C.M., Thompson, P.M., Kan, E., Jolley, J., Welcome, S.E., et al., 2007. Normal developmental changes in inferior frontal gray matter are associated with improvement in phonological processing: a longitudinal MRI analysis. Cereb. Cortex 17, 1092–1099.
- Luciana, M., 2003. The neural and functional development of human prefrontal cortex. In: De Hann, M., Johnson, M. (Eds.), Cognitive Neuroscience of Development (Studies in Developmental Psychology). Psychology Press, New York, pp. 157–179.
- Luman, M., Oosterlaan, J., Sergeant, J.A., 2005. The impact of reinforcement contingencies on AD/HD: a review and theoretical appraisal. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 25 (2), 183–213.
- Luria, A.R., 1961. The Role of Speech in the Regulation of Normal and Abnormal Behavior. Liveright, Oxford, England.
- Luria, A.R., 1966. Higher Cortical Functions in Man. Basic Books, Oxford, England.
- Luu, P., Collins, P., Tucker, D.M., 2000. Mood, personality, and self-monitoring: negative affect and emotionality in relation to frontal lobe mechanisms of error monitoring. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 129 (1), 43–60.
- Maccoby, E.E., Jacklin, C.N., 1974. The Psychology of Sex Differences. Stanford University Press.
- MacLeod, C.M., 1991. Half a century of research on the Stroop effect: an integrative review. Psychol. Bull. 109 (2), 163–203.
- Madras, B.K., Miller, G.M., Fischman, A.J., 2005. The dopamine transporter and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 57 (11), 1397– 1409.
- Main, M., Solomon, J., 1990. Procedures for identifying infants as disorganized/disoriented during the Ainsworth strange situation. In: Greenberg, M.T., Cicchetti, D., Cummings, E.M. (Eds.), Attachment in the Preschool Years: Theory, Research, and Intervention. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp. 121–160.
- Marcovitch, S., Zelazo, P.D., 1999. The A-not-B error: results from a logistic meta-analysis. Child Dev. 70, 1297–1313.
- Marrocco, R.T., Davidson, M.C., 1998. Neurochemistry of attention. In: Parasuraman, R. (Ed.), The Attentive Brain, The MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, pp. 35–50.
- Matsugami, T.R., Tanemura, K., Mieda, M., Nakatomi, R., Yamada, K., Kondo, T., et al., 2006. Indispensability of the glutamate transporters GLAST and GLT1 to brain development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 12161– 12166.
- Maurer, D., Lewis, T.L., Brent, H.P., Levin, A.V., 1999. Rapid improvement in the acuity of infants after visual input. Science 286, 108–110.
- Mazur, J.E., 1988. Estimation of indifference points with an adjusting-delay procedure. J. Exp. Anal. Behav. 49 (1), 37–47.
- Mazur, J.E., 2000. Tradeoffs among delay, rate, and amount of reinforcement. Behav. Process. 49 (1), 1–10.
- McBurnett, K., 1992. Psychobiological approaches to personality and their applications to child psychopathy. In: Lahey, B.B., Kazdin, A.E. (Eds.), Advances in Clinical Child Psychology, vol. 14. Plenum Press, New York, NY, pp. 107–164.

- McClure, S.M., Laibson, D.I., Loewenstein, G., Cohen, J.D., 2004. Separate neural systems value immediate and delayed monetary rewards. Science 306 (5695), 503–507.
- McDonald 3rd, A.W., Cohen, J.D., Stenger, V.A., Carter, C.S., 2000. Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. Science 288 (5472), 1835–1838.
- Meador-Woodruff, J.H., Damask, S.P., Wang, B.S., Haroutunian, V., Davis, K.L., Watson, S.J., 1996. Dopamine receptor mRNA expression in human striatum and neocortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 15, 17–29.
- Mill, J., Sagvolden, T., Asherson, P., 2005. Sequence analysis of Drd2, Drd4, and Dat1 in SHR and WKY rat strains. Behav. Brain Funct. 1, 24.
- Miller, J., 1991. The flanker compatibility effect as a function of visual angle, attentional focus, visual transients, and perceptual load: a search for boundary conditions. Percept. Psychophys. 49, 270–288.
- Miller, S.A., Shelton, J., Flavell, J.H., 1970. A test of Luria's hypotheses concerning the development of verbal self-regulation. Child Dev. 41, 651–665.
- Mirescu, C., Peters, J.D., Gould, E., 2004. Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. Nat. Neurosci. 7 (8), 841–846.
- Mischel, W., 1993. Alternatives in the pursuit of the predictability and consistency of persons: stable data that yield unstable interpretations. J. Pers. 51 (3), 578–604.
- Mobini, S., Body, S., Ho, M.Y., Bradshaw, C.M., Szabadi, E., Deakin, J.F., et al., 2002. Effects of lesions of the orbitofrontal cortex on sensitivity to delayed and probabilistic reinforcement. Psychopharmacology 160 (3), 290–298.
- Monterosso, J., Ainslie, G., 1999. Beyond discounting: possible experimental models of impulse control. Psychopharmacology 146 (4), 339–347.
- Mostofsky, S.H., Cooper, K.L., Kates, W.R., Denckla, M.B., Kaufmann, W.E., 2002. Smaller prefrontal and premotor volumes in boys with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 52 (8), 785–794.
- Mrzljak, L., Bergson, C., Pappy, M., Huff, R., Levenson, R., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1996. Localization of dopamine D4 receptors in GABAergic neurons of the primate brain. Nature 381, 245–248.
- Muir, J.L., Everitt, B.J., Robbins, T.W., 1996. The cerebral cortex of the rat and visual attentional function: dissociable effects of mediofrontal, cingulate, anterior dorsolateral, and parietal cortex lesions on a five-choice serial reaction time task. Cereb. Cortex 6 (3), 470–481.
- Murphy, K., Barkley, R.A., 1996. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder adults: comorbidities and adaptive impairments. Compr. Psychiatry 37 (6), 393–401.
- Myerson, J., Green, L., Hanson, J.S., Holt, D.D., Estle, S.J., 2003. Discounting delayed and probabilistic rewards: processes and traits. J. Econ. Psychol. 24 (5), 619–635.
- Nachmias, M., Gunnar, M., Mangelsdorf, S., Parritz, R.H., Buss, K., 1996. Behavioral inhibition and stress reactivity: the moderating role of attachment security. Child Dev. 67 (2), 508–522.
- Nadeau, K.G., 1995. Life management skills for the adult with ADD. In: Nadeau, K.G. (Ed.), A Comprehensive Guide to Attention Deficit Disorder in Adults: Research, Diagnosis, and Treatment. Brunner/Mazel, Inc, Philadelphia, PA, pp. 191–217.
- Neville, H., March 2007. Paper presented at the Biennial Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development. Boston, MA, USA Experience shapes human brain development.
- Neville, H., Bavelier, D., 2002. Human brain plasticity: evidence from sensory deprivation and altered language experience. Prog. Brain Res. 138, 177–188.
- Newman, J.P., 1998. Psychopathic behavior: an information processing perspective. In: Cooke, D.J., Forth, A.E., Hare, R.D. (Eds.), Psychopathy: Theory, Research and Implications for Society. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, pp. 81–104.
- Nigg, J.T., 2000. On inhibition/disinhibition in developmental psychopathology: views from cognitive and personality psychology and a working inhibition taxonomy. Psychol. Bull. 126 (2), 220–246.
- Nigg, J.T., 2001. Is ADHD a disinhibitory disorder? Psychol. Bull. 127 (5), 571–598.
- Nigg, J.T., Goldsmith, H.H., Sachek, J., 2004. Temperament and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: the development of a multiple pathway model. J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol. 33 (1), 42–53.

- Nigg, J.T., Willcutt, E., Doyle, A., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., 2005. Casual heterogeneity in ADHD: do we need neuropsychologically impaired subtypes? Biol. Psychiatry 57, 1224–1230.
- Nishimura, A., Hohmann, C.F., Johnston, M.V., Blue, M.E., 2002. Neonatal electrolytic lesions of the basal forebrain stunt plasticity in mouse barrel field cortex. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 20, 481–489.
- Ochsner, K.N., Gross, J.J., 2005. The cognitive control of emotion. Trends Cogn. Sciences 9 (5), 242–249.
- Overtoom, C.C., Verbaten, M.N., Kemner, C., Kenemans, J.L., van Engeland, H., Buitelaar, J.K., et al., 2003. Effects of methylphenidate, desipramine, and L-dopa on attention and inhibition in children with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Behav. Brain Res. 145 (1–2), 7–15.
- Pagnoni, G., Zink, C.F., Montague, P.R., Berns, G.S., 2002. Activity in human ventral striatum locked to errors of reward prediction. Nat. Neurosci. 5 (2), 97–98.
- Parfitt, D.B., Levin, J.K., Saltstein, K.P., Klayman, A.S., Greer, L.M., Helmreich, D.L., 2004. Differential early rearing environments can accentuate or attenuate the responses to stress in male C57BL/6 mice. Brain Res. 1016 (1), 111–118.
- Passetti, F., Dalley, J.W., Robbins, T.W., 2003. Double dissociation of serotonergic and dopaminergic mechanisms on attentional performance using a rodent five-choice reaction time task. Psychopharmacology 165 (2), 136–145.
- Paus, T., Zijdenbos, A., Worsley, K., Collins, D.L., Blumenthal, J., Giedd, J.N., et al., 1999. Structural maturation of neural pathways in children and adolescents: in vivo study. Science 283 (5409), 1908–1911.
- Pennington, B.F., 1997. Dimensions of executive functions in normal and abnormal development. In: Krasnegor, N.A., Lyon, G.R., Goldman-Rakic, P.R. (Eds.), Development of the Prefrontal Cortex: Evolution, Neurobiology, and Behavior. Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co. Inc, Baltimore MD, pp. 265–281.
- Perez-Edgar, K., Fox, N.A., July 2000. The impact of frontal asymmetry and attentional control on social reticence. In: Paper Presented at the International Conference on Infant Studies, Brighton, England.
- Pessoa, L., McKenna, M., Gutierrez, E., Ungerleider, L.G., 2002. Neural processing of emotional faces requires attention. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 11458–11463.
- Piaget, J., 1926. The Language and Thought of the Child. Harcourt, Brace & World, New York (Original work published in 1923).
- Piaget, J., 1952. The Origins of Intelligence in Children. International University Press, New York (Original work published in 1936).
- Pietras, C.J., Cherek, D.R., Lane, S.D., Tcheremissine, O.V., Steinberg, J.L., 2003. Effects of methylphenidate on impulsive choice in adult humans. Psychopharmacology 170 (4), 390–398.
- Pliszka, S.R., Borcherding, S.H., Spratley, K., Leon, S., Irick, S., 1997. Measuring inhibitory control in children. J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr. 18 (4), 254–259.
- Pliszka, S.R., Liotti, M., Woldorff, M.G., 2000. Inhibitory control in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: event-related potentials identify the processing component and timing of an impaired rightfrontal response-inhibition mechanism. Biol. Psychiatry 48 (3), 238–246.
- Polan, H.J., Hofer, M.A., 1999. Maternally directed orienting behaviors of newborn rats. Dev. Psychobiol. 34 (4), 269–279.
- Posner, M.I., 1980. Orienting of attention. The 7th Sir F. C. Bartlett Lecture. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 32, 3–35.
- Posner, M.I., Boies, S.J., 1971. Components of attention. Psychol. Rev. 78, 391– 408.
- Posner, M.I., Fan, J. Attention as an organ system. In: Pomerantz, J. (Ed.), Topics in Integrative Neuroscience: From Cells to Cognition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, in press.
- Posner, M.I., Petersen, S.E., 1990. The attention system of the human brain. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 13, 25–42.
- Posner, M.I., Rothbart, M.K., 1998. Attention, self-regulation and consciousness. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Series B: Biol. Sci. 353, 1915–1927.
- Posner, M.I., Rothbart, M.K., 2000. Developing mechanisms of self-regulation. Dev. Psychopathol. 12, 427–441.
- Posner, M.I., Rothbart, M.K., 2007. Educating the Human Brain. American Psychological Association, Washington, DC.

- Puumala, T., Ruotsalainen, S., Jakala, P., Koivisto, E., Riekkinen Jr., P., Sirvio, J., 1996. Behavioral and pharmacological studies on the validation of a new animal model for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 66 (2), 198–211.
- Quay, H.C., 1997. Inhibition and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 25 (1), 7–13.
- Rainville, P., Duncan, G.H., Price, D.D., Carrier, B., Bushnell, M.C., 1997. Pain affect encoded in human anterior cingulate but not somatosensory cortex. Science 277 (5328), 968–971.
- Reed, M., Pien, D., Rothbart, M.K., 1984. Inhibitory self-control in preschool children. Merrill-Palmer Q. 30, 131–148.
- Richards, J.B., Mitchell, S.H., de Wit, H., Seiden, L.S., 1997. Determination of discount functions in rats with an adjusting-amount procedure. J. Exp. Anal. Behav. 67 (3), 353–366.
- Rietveld, M.J., Hudziak, J.J., Bartels, M., van Beijsterveldt, C.E., Boomsma, D.I., 2004. Heritability of attention problems in children: longitudinal results from a study of twins, age 3 to 12. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 45 (3), 577–588.
- Riggs, N.R., Greenberg, M.T., Kusche, C.A., Pentz, M.A., 2006. The mediational role of neurocognition in the behavioral outcomes of a socialemotional prevention program in elementary school students: effects of the PATHS curriculum. Prev. Sci. 7 (1), 91–102.
- Robbins, T.W., 2002. The 5-choice serial reaction time task: behavioural pharmacology and functional neurochemistry. Psychopharmacology 163 (3-4), 362–380.
- Roesch, M.R., Taylor, A.R., Schoenbaum, G., 2006. Encoding of time-discounted rewards in orbitofrontal cortex is independent of value representation. Neuron 51, 509–520.
- Rogers, R.D., Everitt, B.J., Baldacchino, A., Blackshaw, A.J., Swainson, R., Wynne, K., et al., 1999. Dissociable deficits in the decision-making cognition of chronic amphetamine abusers, opiate abusers, patients with focal damage to prefrontal cortex, and tryptophan-depleted normal volunteers: evidence for monoaminergic mechanisms. Neuropsychopharmacology 20 (4), 322–339.
- Romeo, R.D., Mueller, A., Sisti, H.M., Ogawa, S., McEwen, B.S., Brake, W.G., 2003. Anxiety and fear behaviors in adult male and female C57BL/6 mice are modulated by maternal separation. Horm. Behav. 43 (5), 561–567.
- Rothbart, M.K., 1989. Temperament in childhood: a framework. In: Kohnstamm, G.A., Bates, J.E., Rothbart, M.K. (Eds.), Temperament in Childhood. Wiley, John & Sons, Incorporated, Chichester, UK, pp. 59–73.
- Rothbart, M.K., Ahadi, S.A., Hershey, K.L., 1994. Temperament and social behavior in childhood. Merrill-Palmer Q. 40, 21–39.
- Rothbart, M.K., Ahadi, S.A., Hershey, K.L., Fisher, P., 2001. Investigations of temperament at three to seven years: the Children's Behavior Questionnaire. Child Dev. 72 (5), 1394–1408.
- Rothbart, M.K., Bates, J.E., 1998. Temperament. In: Eisenberg, N. (Ed.), Social, Emotional, and Personality Development, fifth ed., vol. 3. Wiley, New York, pp. 105–176.
- Rothbart, M.K., Ziaie, H., O'Boyle, C.G., 1992. Self-regulation and emotion in infancy. New Dir. Child Dev (55), 7–23.
- Rubia, K., Overmeyer, S., Taylor, E., Brammer, M., Williams, S.C., Simmons, A., et al., 1999. Hypofrontality in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder during higher-order motor control: a study with functional MRI. Am. J. Psychiatry 156 (6), 891–896.
- Ruble, D.N., Martin, C.L., 1998. Gender development. In: Damion, E. (Ed.), Handbook of Child Psychology, vol. 3. Wiley, New York, pp. 933–1016.
- Rudebeck, P.H., Walton, M.E., Smyth, A.N., Bannerman, D.M., Rushworth, M.F.S., 2006. Separate neural pathways process different decision costs. Nat. Neurosci. 9 (9), 1161–1168.
- Rueda, M.R., Fan, J., McCandliss, B.D., Halparin, J.D., Gruber, D.B., Lercari, L.P., et al., 2004. Development of attentional networks in children. Neuropsychologia 42, 1029–1040.
- Rueda, M.R., Posner, M.I., Rothbart, M.K., 2005a. The development of executive attention: contributions to the emergence of self-regulation. Dev. Neuropsychol. 28, 573–594.
- Rueda, M.R., Rothbart, M.K., McCandliss, B.D., Saccomanno, L., Posner, M.I., 2005b. Training, maturation, and genetic influences on the development of executive attention. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (41), 14931–14936.

- Ruff, H.A., Rothbart, M.K., 1996. Attention in Early Development: Themes and Variations. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Rushworth, M.F.S., Walton, M.E., Kennerley, S.W., Bannerman, D.M., 2004. Action sets and decisions in the medial frontal cortex. Trends Cogn. Sciences 8, 410–417.
- Russell, V.A., Oades, R.D., Tannock, R., Killeen, P.R., Auerbach, J.G., Johansen, E.B., et al., 2006. Response variability in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: a neuronal and glial energetics hypothesis. Behav. Brain Funct. 2, 30.
- Russell, V.A., Sagvolden, T., Johansen, E.B., 2005. Animal models of attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder. Behav. Brain Funct. 1, 9.
- Sagvolden, T., 2000. Behavioral validation of the spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (AD/HD). Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24 (1), 31–39.
- Sagvolden, T., Metzger, M.A., Schiorbeck, H.K., Rugland, A.L., Spinnangr, I., Sagvolden, G., 1992. The spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal model of childhood hyperactivity (ADHD): changed reactivity to reinforcers and to psychomotor stimulants. Behav. Neural Biol. 58 (2), 103– 112.
- Sagvolden, T., Sergeant, J.A., 1998. Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorderfrom brain dysfunctions to behaviour. Behav. Brain Res. 94 (1), 1–10.
- Sapir, A., Soroker, N., Berger, A., Henik, A., 1999. Inhibition of return in spatial attention: direct evidence for collicular generation. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 1053– 1054.
- Scheres, A., Dijkstra, M., Ainslie, E., Balkan, J., Reynolds, B., Sonuga-Barke, E., et al., 2006. Temporal and probabilistic discounting of rewards in children and adolescents: effects of age and ADHD symptoms. Neuropsychologia 44 (11), 2092–2103.
- Schore, A.N. (Ed.), 1994. Affect Regulation and the Origin of the Self: The Neurobiology of Emotional Development. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., Hillsdale, NJ, England.
- Schultz, W., 2004. Neural coding of basic reward terms of animal learning theory, game theory, microeconomics and behavioural ecology. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 14 (2), 139–147.
- Schwarzkopf, D.S., Vorobyov, V., Mitchell, D.E., Sengpiel, F., 2007. Brief daily binocular vision prevents monocular deprivation effects in visual cortex. Eur. J. Neurosci. 25, 270–280.
- Sergeant, J.A., 1995. Hyperkinetic disorder revisted. In: Sergeant, J.A. (Ed.), Euneythydis: European Approaches to Hyperkinetic Disorder. Author, Amsterdam, pp. 7–17.
- Sergeant, J.A., 1996. The cognitive-energetic model of ADHD. In: Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the International Society for Research in Child and Adolescent Psychopathology, Los Angeles, CA.
- Sergeant, J.A., 2005. Modeling attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a critical appraisal of the cognitive-energetic model. Biol. Psychiatry 57 (11), 1248–1255.
- Sergeant, J.A., Geurts, H., Huijbregts, S., Scheres, A., Oosterlaan, J., 2003. The top and the bottom of ADHD: a neuropsychological perspective. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 27 (7), 583–592.
- Sergeant, J.A., Oosterlaan, J., van der Meere, J.J., 1999. Information processing and energetic factors in attention-deficit/hyper-activity disorder. In: Quay, H.C., Hogan, A. (Eds.), Handbook of Disruptive Behavior Disorders. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 75–104.
- Sergeant, J.A., van der Meere, J., 1988. What happens after a hyperactive child commits an error? Psychiatry Res. 24 (2), 157–164.
- Sergeant, J.A., van der Meere, J., 1990. Additive factor method applied to psychopathology with special reference to childhood hyperactivity. Acta Psycholologia (Amst) 74 (2–3), 277–295.
- Shallice, T., Marzocchi, G.M., Coser, S., Del Savio, M., Meuter, R.F., Rumiati, R.I., 2002. Executive function profile of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Dev. Neuropsychol. 21 (1), 43–71.
- Shaw, P., Greenstein, D., Lerch, J., Clasen, L., Lenroot, R., Gogtay, N., et al., 2006. Intellectual ability and cortical development in children and adolescents. Nature 440, 676–679.
- Shoda, Y., Mischel, W., Peake, P., 1990. Predicting adolescent cognitive and self-regulatory competencies from preschool delay of gratification: identifying diagnostic conditions. Dev. Psychol. 26 (6), 978–986.

- Silverman, I.W., Ragusa, D.M., 1990. Child and maternal correlates of impulse control in 24-month-old children. Genet., Soc., Gen. Psychol. Monogr. 116 (4), 435–473.
- Smalley, S.L., Bailey, J.N., Palmer, C.G., Cantwell, D.P., McGough, J.J., Del'Homme, M.A., et al., 1998. Evidence that the dopamine D4 receptor is a susceptibility gene in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Mol. Psychiatry 3 (5), 427–430.
- Sohlberg, M.M., Mateer, C.A., 1987. Effectiveness of an attention-training program. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 9 (2), 117–130.
- Sohlberg, M.M., Mateer, C.A., 2001. Improving attention and managing attentional problems. Adapting rehabilitation techniques to adults with ADD. Ann. N Y Acad. Sci. 931, 359–375.
- Sonuga-Barke, E.J., 2002. Psychological heterogeneity in AD/HD–a dual pathway model of behaviour and cognition. Behav. Brain Res. 130 (1–2), 29–36.
- Sonuga-Barke, E.J., 2003. The dual pathway model of AD/HD: an elaboration of neuro-developmental characteristics. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 27 (7), 593–604.
- Sonuga-Barke, E.J., 2005. Causal models of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: from common simple deficits to multiple developmental pathways. Biol. Psychiatry 57, 1231–1238.
- Sonuga-Barke, E.J., Taylor, E., Sembi, S., Smith, J., 1992. Hyperactivity and delay aversion-I. The effect of delay on choice. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 33 (2), 387–398.
- Sowell, E.R., Thompson, P.M., Holmes, C.J., Jernigan, T.L., Toga, A.W., 1999. In vivo evidence for post-adolescent brain maturation in frontal and striatal regions. Nat. Neurosci. 2 (10), 859–861.
- Sowell, E.R., Thompson, P.M., Leonard, C.M., Welcome, S.E., Kan, E., Toga, A.W., et al., 2004. Longitudinal mapping of cortical thickness and brain growth in normal children. J. Neurosci. 24 (38), 8223–8231.
- Spencer, T., Biederman, J., 2002. Non-stimulant treatment for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. J. Attent Disord. 6 (Suppl 1), S109– S119.
- Spencer, T.J., Biederman, J., Madras, B.K., Faraone, S.V., Dougherty, D.D., Bonab, A.A., et al., 2005. In vivo neuroreceptor imaging in Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 57, 1293–1300.
- Spinrad, T.L., Eisenberg, N., Harris, E., Hanish, L., Fabes, R.A., Kupanoff, K., et al., 2004. The relation of children's everyday nonsocial peer play behavior to their emotionality, regulation, and social functioning. Dev. Psychol. 40 (1), 67–80.
- Sroufe, L.A., 1983. Infant-caregiver attachment and patterns of adaptation in preschool: the roots of maladaptation and competence. In: Perlmutter, M. (Ed.), The Minnesota Symposia on Child Psychology, vol. 16. Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ, pp. 41–83.
- Sroufe, L.A., 1995. Emotional Development: The Organization of Emotional Life in the Early Years. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Steckler, T., Sauvage, M., Holsboer, F., 2000. Glucocorticoid receptor impairment enhances impulsive responding in transgenic mice performing on a simultaneous visual discrimination task. Eur. J. Neurosci. 12 (7), 2559– 2569.
- Stocker, C., Dunn, J., 1990. Sibling relationships in childhood: links with friendships and peer relationships. Br. J. Dev. Psychol. 8 (3), 227–244.
- Stroop, J.R., 1935. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J. Exp. Psychol. 18, 643–662.
- Sullivan, R.M., Brake, W.G., 2003. What the rodent prefrontal cortex can teach us about attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: the critical role of early developmental events on prefrontal function. Behav. Brain Res. 146 (1–2), 43–55.
- Suomi, S.J., 2000. A biobehavioral perspective on developmental psychopathology: excessive aggression and serotonergic dysfunction in monkeys. In: Sameroff, A.J., Lewis, M., Miller, S.M. (Eds.), Handbook of Developmental Psychopathology. second ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands, pp. 237–256.
- Swick, D., Jovanovic, J., 2002. Anterior cingulate cortex and the Stroop task: neuropsychological evidence for topographic specificity. Neuropsychologia 40, 1240–1253.
- Thompson, R.A., 1994. Emotion regulation: a theme in search of definition. Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev. 59 (2–3), 25–52.

- Toga, A.W., Thompson, P.M., Sowell, E.R., 2006. Mapping brain maturation. Trends Neurosci. 29 (3), 148–159.
- Toplak, M.E., Jain, U., Tannock, R., 2005. Executive and motivational processes in adolescents with attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Behavioral and Brain Functions, 1. Available online: http:// www.behavioralandbrainfunctions.com/content/1/1/8.
- Tripp, G., Alsop, B., 2001. Sensitivity to reward delay in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 42 (5), 691–698.
- Vaidya, C.J., Austin, G., Kirkorian, G., Ridlehuber, H.W., Desmond, J.E., Glover, G.H., et al., 1998. Selective effects of methylphenidate in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a functional magnetic resonance study. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95 (24), 14494–14499.
- van den Bergh, F.S., Bloemarts, E., Chan, J.S., Groenink, L., Olivier, B., Oosting, R.S., 2006. Spontaneously hypertensive rats do not predict symptoms of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 83 (3), 380–390.
- van der Meere, J., Stemerdink, N., 1999. The development of state regulation in normal children: an indirect comparison with children with ADHD. Dev. Neuropsychol. 16 (2), 213–225.
- van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., Gage, F.H., 2000. Neural consequences of environmental enrichment. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 1 (3), 191–198.
- Vaughn, B.E., Kopp, C.B., Krakow, J.B., 1984. The emergence and consolidation of self-control from eighteen to thirty months of age: normative trends and individual differences. Child Dev. 55 (3), 990–1004.
- Viggiano, D., Ruocco, L.A., Sadile, A.G., 2003. Dopamine phenotype and behaviour in animal models: in relation to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 27 (7), 623–637.
- Villabos, J., Rios, O., Barbosa, M., 2000. Postnatal development of the basal forebrain cholinergic projections to the medial prefrontal cortex in mice. Dev. Brain Res. 120, 99–103.
- Volkow, N.D., Wang, G.J., Newcorn, J., Fowler, J.S., Telang, F., Solanto, M.V., et al., 2007. Brain dopamine transporter levels in treatment and drug naïve adults with ADHD. NeuroImage 34, 1182–1190.
- Vygotsky, L.S., 1962. Thought and Language. Wiley, Oxford, England.
- Walderhaug, E., Lunde, H., Nordvik, J.E., Landro, N.I., Refsum, H., Magnusson, A., 2002. Lowering of serotonin by rapid tryptophan depletion increases impulsiveness in normal individuals. Psychopharmacology 164 (4), 385–391.
- Weiss, G., Hechtman, L.T., 1993. Hyperactive Children Grown up: ADHD in Children, Adolescents, and Adults, second ed. Guilford Press, New York.
- Welsh, M.C., 2001. The prefrontal cortex and the development of executive function in childhood. In: Kalverboer, A.F., Gramsbergen, A. (Eds.), Handbook of Brain and Behaviour in Human Development. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Great Britain, pp. 767–790.
- Weyandt, L.L., Mitzlaff, L., Thomas, L., 2002. The relationship between intelligence and performance on the test of variables of attention (TOVA). J. Learn. Disabil. 35 (2), 114–120.
- Whitaker-Azmitia, P.M., 2001. Serotonin and brain development: role in human developmental diseases. Brain Res. Bull. 56 (5), 479–485.
- Willcutt, E.G., Doyle, A.E., Nigg, J.T., Faraone, S.V., Pennington, B.F., 2005. Validity of the executive function theory of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analytic review. Biol. Psychiatry 57 (11), 1336– 1346.
- Winstanley, C.A., Dalley, J.W., Theobald, D.E., Robbins, T.W., 2003. Global 5-HT depletion attenuates the ability of amphetamine to decrease impulsive choice on a delay-discounting task in rats. Psychopharmacology 170 (3), 320–331.
- Winstanley, C.A., Theobald, D.E., Cardinal, R.N., Robbins, T.W., 2004. Contrasting roles of basolateral amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex in impulsive choice. J. Neurosci. 24, 4718–4722.
- Winstanley, C.A., Theobald, D.E., Dalley, J.W., Cardinal, R.N., Robbins, T.W., 2006. Double dissociation between serotonergic and dopaminergic modulation of medial prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortex during a test of impulsive choice. Cereb. Cortex 16 (1), 106–114.
- Winstanley, C.A., Theobald, D.E., Dalley, J.W., Robbins, T.W., 2005. Interactions between serotonin and dopamine in the control of impulsive choice in

rats: therapeutic implications for impulse control disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 30 (4), 669–682.

- Wolfe, C.D., Bell, M.A., 2004. Working memory and inhibitory control in early childhood: contributions from physiology, temperament, and language. Dev. Psychobiol. 44 (1), 68–83.
- Zelazo, P.D., Carlson, S.M., Kesek, A. The development of executive function in childhood. In: Nelson, C., Luciana, M. (Eds.), Handbook of Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, second ed. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, in press.
- Zelazo, P.D., Jacques, S., 1996. Children's rule use: representation, reflection and cognitive control. In: Vasta, R. (Ed.), Annals of Child Development: A

Research Annual, vol. 12. Jessica Kingsley Publishers, Ltd., Philadelphia, PA, pp. 119–176.

- Zelazo, P.D., Muller, U., Frye, D., Marcovitch, S., 2003. The development of executive function in early childhood. Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev. 68 (3, Serial No. 274).
- Zelazo, P.D., Reznick, J.S., Pinon, D.E., 1995. Response control and the execution of verbal rules. Dev. Psychol. 31 (3), 508–517.
- Zhu, X.O., de Permentier, P.J., Waite, P.M.E., 2002. Cholinergic depletion by IgG192-saporin retards development of rat barrel cortex. Dev. Brain Res. 136, 1–16.